# Exoplanetary Atmospheres: Key Insights, Challenges and Prospects

## Nikku Madhusudhan<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Institute of Astronomy, University of Cambridge, Cambridge, UK, CB3 0HA; email: nmadhu@ast.cam.ac.uk

xxxxx 0000. 00:1–59 Copyright © 0000 by Annual Reviews. All rights reserved

#### **Keywords**

Extrasolar planets, exoplanetary atmospheres, planet formation, habitability, atmospheric composition

#### Abstract

Exoplanetary science is on the verge of an unprecedented revolution. The thousands of exoplanets discovered over the past decade have most recently been supplemented by discoveries of potentially habitable planets around nearby low-mass stars. Currently, the field is rapidly progressing towards detailed spectroscopic observations to characterise the atmospheres of these planets. While various surveys from space and ground are expected to detect numerous more exoplanets orbiting nearby stars, the imminent launch of JWST along with large groundbased facilities are expected to revolutionise exoplanetary spectroscopy. Such observations, combined with detailed theoretical models and inverse methods, provide valuable insights into a wide range of physical processes and chemical compositions in exoplanetary atmospheres. Depending on the planetary properties, the knowledge of atmospheric compositions can also place important constraints on planetary formation and migration mechanisms, geophysical processes and, ultimately, biosignatures. In the present review, we will discuss the modern and future landscape of this frontier area of exoplanetary atmospheres. We will start with a brief review of the area, emphasising the key insights gained from different observational methods and theoretical studies. This is followed by an in-depth discussion of the state-of-the-art, challenges, and future prospects in three forefront branches of the area.

## Contents

1		~
1.	Introduction	2
2.	Observational Methods.	7
	2.1. Transit Spectroscopy	7
	2.2. High-resolution Doppler Spectroscopy	9
	2.3. Direct Imaging	10
3.	Theoretical Advancements	13
	3.1. Self-consistent Models	13
	3.2. Atmospheric Retrieval	15
	3.3. Disequilibrium Models	16
4.	Atmospheric Characterisation of Exoplanets	17
	4.1. Chemical Compositions	18
	4.2 Clouds/Hazes	23
	4.3. Temperature Structures	24
	4.4 Atmospheric Dynamics	26
	4.5 Atmospheric Escape	28
5	Implications for Planetary Formation	20
J.	F1 The Darie Disture	29
	5.1. The Dask Ficture	29
	5.2. Compositions of Accreted Material	30
_	5.3. End-to-end Studies.	30
6.	Habitable Planets and Biosignatures	34
	6.1. Habitable Planets	35
	6.2. Biosignatures	35
	6.3. Observational Prospects	36
7.	Future Landscape	37
	7.1. Exoplanetary Atmospheres with Current Facilities	37
	7.2. Exoplanetary Atmospheres with JWST	38

#### 1. Introduction

Planetary atmospheres serve as Rosetta Stones for planetary processes. Encoded in the spectrum of a planetary atmosphere is information about its various physical and chemical properties which in turn provide key insights into myriad atmospheric processes as well as the formation and evolutionary history of the planet. Over a century of spectroscopic observations of planets and moons in the solar system have revealed a vast treasury of information on their diversity in all these aspects. From the giant storms and NH<sub>3</sub> clouds on Jupiter to the dense sulphuric clouds on Venus, from H<sub>2</sub>-rich giant planets to CO2-rich Venus and Mars, and then the unique Earth, the atmospheric diversity of the solar system is a sight to behold for the intrepid explorer. Yet, all the breathtaking diversity of the solar system arises from a surprisingly limited range of macroscopic planetary parameters from a cosmic context. The equilibrium temperatures of the solar system planets lie between 50 and 500 K, with only Venus and Mercury being above 300 K. The planetary sizes and masses fall in three broad ranges - the gas giants (8-11  $R_{\oplus}$ , ~100-320 $M_{\oplus}$ ), the ice giants  $(4R_{\oplus}, \sim 14\text{-}17M_{\oplus})$ , and the terrestrial planets  $(\leq 1R_{\oplus}, \leq 1M_{\oplus})$ . In contrast, the thousands of exoplanets known today span a range in bulk properties that would have been considered impossible two decades ago with temperatures ranging between 200 - 4000 K and radii and masses spanning continuously over a large range ( $\sim 0.5-20 \text{ R}_{\oplus}, \sim 1-10^4 \text{ M}_{\oplus}$ ).



Figure 1: Processes active in exoplanetary atmospheres and how they are probed by different parts of the electromagnetic spectrum. These processes occur in different regions of the atmosphere and are labelled at the relevant location. On the right, the penetration depths of UV, optical and infrared light are shown, indicating which processes can be probed by observations in each wavelength range. The chemical species whose signatures can be detected in each wavelength range are also indicated. On the left are shown three types of temperature profile which can arise as a result of atmospheric processes: the profile of a highly-irradiated planet with a thermal inversion (red), that of an irradiated planet without a thermal inversion (cyan), and the temperature profile of a poorly irradiated planet (grey, dashed).

It is only natural then that the atmospheres of these exoplanets may also be expected to be similarly diverse. As such, exoplanetary atmospheres serve as excellent laboratories to study planetary processes and formation mechanisms over the entire possible range of macroscopic properties - masses, radii, temperatures/irradiation, orbital architectures, and host stellar types.

The information obtained about an exoplanetary atmosphere depends on the nature of observations. Figure 1 shows a schematic of atmospheric processes that can be observed in exoplanets with different spectral ranges probing different regions, and hence different processes, in the atmosphere. The different atmospheric processes can be understood as a function of the pressure (P) in the atmosphere. Deep in the atmosphere  $(P \gtrsim 1 \text{ bar})$  the pressure and temperature, and hence density and opacity, are high enough that thermochemical equilibrium and radiative-convective equilibrium prevail, i.e., chemical reactions occur faster than kinetic processes. The resulting composition then is that which minimises the Gibbs free energy of the system for the given temperature, pressure, and elemental abundances. Higher up in the atmosphere, between ~1mbar and ~1 bar, various processes become more prevalent including atmospheric dynamics, clouds/hazes, and temperature inversions, as a result of complex interplay between the incident radiation field, chemical

composition, and other planetary properties. These processes strongly influence, and are influenced by, the atmospheric chemical composition and temperature structure both of which can be out of equilibrium. Further up in the atmosphere ( $P \sim 10^{-6}$  -  $10^{-3}$  bar), the low density and high radiation field cause photochemical processes to govern the atmospheric composition through photodissociation of prominent molecules into their constituent atomic species and formation of new ones. Eventually, at very low pressures, atmospheric escape of atomic species lead to mass loss from the atmosphere. Therefore, each region of the atmosphere provides a window into specific physicochemical processes. At the same time, different chemical species and different regions of the atmosphere are accessible to different parts of the electromagnetic spectrum. Prominent molecular species (e.g.  $H_2O$ ,  $CO, CO_2, CH_4, etc)$  absorb primarily in the infrared due to rovibrational transitions, with the exception of some heavy metal species (TiO, VO, TiH, etc.) which also have strong visible absorption. On the other hand, atomic species absorb primarily in the optical and UV, depending on the excitation and ionisation states. Therefore, while UV observations probe the uppermost regions of the atmosphere where the composition is entirely atomic, the infrared observations probe lower regions of the atmosphere where the composition is primarily molecular, with optical spectra probing intermediate regions. Thus the spectral range of observations governs the region in the atmosphere probed and the corresponding physicochemical properties and processes.

The study of exoplanetary atmospheres has progressed at a tremendous pace in recent years. Just a decade ago, fewer than 25 transiting exoplanets were known and the first directly imaged planets were just being discovered. Observations of exoplanetary atmospheres were still in their infancy. Prior to that, only a handful of atomic species were detected robustly, mostly in the two famous transiting hot Jupiters HD 209458b and HD 189733b, using transmission spectra in the optical and UV obtained with the Hubble Space Telescope (HST) (50, 272). The first detections of exoplanetary atmospheres using multi-band space-based infrared photometry and spectrophotometry with Spitzer and HST were being made (51, 96, 258). The instruments used for these early measurements (such as the HST NICMOS spectrograph and Spitzer photometric instruments) were never designed for exoplanetary observations which require extreme sensitivities (e.g., photometric precisions better than  $\sim 10^{-4}$ ). As such, the early measurements were intensely debated for their accuracy and several were subsequently revised as the systematics were better understood and analysis methods improved. This in stark contrast to the present day as high confidence and reproducible detections of exoplanetary spectra with HST are routine, as discussed below. At the same time the first attempts for transit spectroscopy from the ground were also being made(214, 246). Even so, inferences of molecular absorption and pressure-temperature profiles (e.g. thermal inversions) relied heavily on forward models with solar-like elemental compositions and equilibrium conditions (125, 43). Statistical constraints on atmospheric properties of exoplanets using atmospheric retrieval methods were still a dream for the future. On another front, the first thermal phase curves, and brightness maps, were being observed for hot Jupiters using infrared photometry with the Spitzer space telescope (126). At the same time, the first three-dimensional atmospheric circulation models were being developed for hot Jupiters (237) to explain the observed thermal phase curves. In summary, about a decade ago major observational facilities were being pushed to their limits to detect spectra of transiting exoplanets. At the same time, concomitant developments in theory were being pursued to explain the extant observations, however sparse. Such were the humble beginnings of atmospheric characterisation of exoplanets a decade ago.



Figure 2: Masses versus radii of transiting exoplanets whose atmospheres have been observed. Planets with HST transmission/emission observations are shown by blue/yellow circles, respectively. Emission observations from ground-based facilities are shown in red. All known planets in this mass and radius range, with or without atmospheric observations, are shown for reference as grey points. Solar System planets are denoted in black by their initials and represented by the vertical dashed lines. Data obtained from the NASA Exoplanet Archive at https://exoplanetarchive.ipac.caltech.edu/.

Fast forward to the present - the field has transformed beyond recognition. Firstly, robust detections of exoplanetary atmospheric spectra are routinely made today using a variety of techniques: transit spectroscopy (50), direct imaging (174), as well as Doppler spectroscopy (251), both from space as well as the ground. Here, robustness of a result implies high statistical significance of a detection and its reproducibility by multiple groups using the same dataset. The space-based instruments used for the purpose in recent years are mainly HST spectrographs such as WFC3 in the near-infrared (177, 63) and STIS in the optical and UV (244, 71), and until recently the Spitzer IRAC 1 and 2 bands in the infrared (65), all of which have been very well characterized compared to the early observations a decade ago. Atmospheres of nearly a hundred exoplanets have been detected using at least one technique in at least one spectral band, as shown in Fig. 2. However, meaningful constraints on atmospheric properties require more than a few photometric observations. The required high-precision spectra over a broad spectral range have been observed for tens of giant exoplanets resulting in robust inferences of their chemical and/or thermal properties. Beyond detecting atmospheric spectra (63), the advent of atmospheric retrieval techniques (162) have enabled inverting the observed spectra to obtain detailed statistical estimates of atmospheric properties of exoplanets as a standard procedure. Such observations and inversion techniques are providing initial constraints on key atmospheric properties such as prominent molecular and atomic species (e.g. H<sub>2</sub>O, CO, CH<sub>4</sub>, CO<sub>2</sub>, HCN, TiO, VO, Na, K), elemental ratios (e.g. O/H, C/O ratios), temperature profiles (including thermal inversions), clouds/hazes, circulation patterns, and exospheres.

The field is now moving beyond atmospheric characterisation of individual exoplanets towards comparative characterisation of ensembles of planets. Such constraints on atmospheric properties of exoplanets have advanced theories of a vast range of corresponding physicochemical processes in exoplanetary atmospheres, spanning chemical and radiative processes, atmospheric dynamics, atmospheric escape, and clouds/hazes. The derived chemical abundances are also being used to investigate constraints on planetary formation and evolutionary processes, which is one of the major current frontiers of the field (164, 140). At the same time, the first observations of chemical signatures in atmospheres of low-mass exoplanets, e.g. Neptunes and super-Earths, are becoming feasible, giving rise to the fledgling area of exogeology (265, 74, 277). Observations have also been attempted for transiting planets in the habitable zones of low-mass stars. While no such detection has yet been feasible the prospect of detecting an atmospheric signature of a rocky planet, potentially in the habitable zone, seems like a realisable dream.

Developments on the observational front have been led by both demonstrations of new detection methods as well as new instrumentation. The most remarkable of these successes have been in three directions corresponding to three detection methods. First, extensive high-precision transit spectroscopy with HST instruments from the UV to NIR have led to atmospheric characterisations in a large sample of transiting exoplanets. In particular, the HST WFC3 spectrograph in the NIR has made H<sub>2</sub>O detections in exoplanetary atmospheres a routine matter today, with observed planets ranging from dozens of hot Jupiters to exo-Neptunes and even a super-Earth. This is remarkable considering that the  $H_2O$  abundances are not known for the giant planets in our own solar system owing to their low temperatures at which H<sub>2</sub>O condenses. Besides HST, remarkable developments have also been made in transit spectroscopy using ground-based facilities. Such observations have led to detections of key species such as Na, K, and TiO, as well as of thermal emission from transiting exoplanets. Second, starting with the first detections a decade ago, direct imaging and spectroscopy of exoplanets is a highly successful technique today with nearly ten objects discovered and various dedicated ground-based surveys now underway. Finally, within this decade high-resolution Doppler spectroscopy in the near-infrared has made it possible to detect molecules in exoplanetary atmospheres, both transiting and non-transiting, by crosscorrelation with template spectra. This technique has been very successful in detecting prominent molecules in several giant exoplanets orbiting bright stars. Beyond these broad developments, numerous advances have been made in various aspects of each detection method as will be discussed in this review. Concomitant advancements have also been made in atmospheric modelling, retrieval and theoretical studies.

The present review is an attempt to discuss the state-of-the-art of this exciting frontier. We will briefly review the recent advances in observational and theoretical methods in sections 2 and 3. We will then review the state-of-the-art, challenges, and future landscape of three frontier topics in the area. We will discuss advances in atmospheric characterisation of exoplanets in section 4, those on implications for planetary formation in section 5, and on habitability and biosignatures in section 6. We will conclude with a discussion on the landscape for the immediate future.

### 2. Observational Methods

Exoplanetary atmospheres have been observed using a wide range of methods that allow complementary constraints on their physicochemical properties. The methods fall into three broad categories: (a) Transit spectroscopy, (b) High-resolution Doppler spectroscopy, and (c) Direct imaging spectroscopy. While transit spectroscopy and Doppler spectroscopy are most conducive for atmospheric characterisation of close-in planets, direct imaging is more suited for planets at larger orbital separations. These various methods have been discussed in detail in the literature (227, 78, 167, 135, 26). The bulk properties of exoplanets whose atmospheres have been observed are shown in Fig. 2. Here we briefly outline each of these methods, their capabilities and limitations, and their future prospects.

## 2.1. Transit Spectroscopy

Transit spectroscopy has been the most successful avenue for their atmospheric characterisation of exoplanets to date, both by number of planets observed and the range of atmospheric constraints obtained (50, 63). This is due to both the larger number of planets detected using the transit method as well as the favourable geometry which makes it relatively easier for atmospheric observations compared to other methods. The transit method allows three configurations to observe a planet's atmosphere: (a) a 'transmission spectrum' when the planet transits in front of the host star, i.e. at primary eclipse (b) an emission spectrum as the planet passes behind the host star, i.e. at secondary eclipse, and (c) a phase curve as the planet orbits between the primary and secondary eclipses (127, 256). During the primary eclipse, the star light along the line of sight passes through the atmosphere at the day-night terminator of the planet. The resultant spectrum observed contains absorption features of the planetary atmosphere imprinted on the stellar spectrum. The difference between the in-transit and out-of-transit spectrum, normalised by the out-of-transit spectrum, yields the transmission spectrum. The transmission spectrum is effectively a measure of extinction due to the planetary atmosphere at its day-night terminator region. On the other hand, the secondary eclipse spectrum measures the emergent spectrum from the dayside atmosphere of the planet. Just prior to secondary eclipse the combined spectrum of both the star and the planetary dayside is observed. This combined spectrum, when subtracted by stellar spectrum, which is observed during secondary eclipse, yields the planetary spectrum. Finally, the phase curve provides a spectrum of the planet at different phases. Each of these configurations of transit spectroscopy provides different and complementary constraints on the atmospheric properties of a transiting planet. A panorama of state-of-the-art atmospheric spectra observed during primary and secondary eclipse is shown in Fig. 3.

A transmission spectrum is essentially a measure of the thickness of the atmosphere probed perpendicular to the line of sight as a function of wavelength. It provides constraints primarily on the chemical composition of the atmosphere at the day-night terminator region, along with the mean molecular weight and temperature through the scale height. Different spectral regions provide constraints on different chemical species. Prominent molecules expected in giant exoplanetary atmospheres such as  $H_2O$ , CO,  $CH_4$ ,  $CO_2$ , HCN, TiO/VO, etc., have significant abundances and strong absorption features in the infrared and/or visible wavelengths making them detectable in transmission spectra (161, 188). Similarly, atomic features of alkali metals Na and K have strong absorption features in the visible (233, 244). On the other hand, transmission spectra are also excellent probes of scattering in atmospheres. Different sources of scattering such as Rayleigh scattering for small particles **HST:** Hubble Space Telescope

**Spitzer:** Spitzer Space Telescope

**JWST:** James Webb Space Telescope

VLT: Very Large Telescope

**GTC:** Gran Telescopio Canarias

**E-ELT:** European Extremely Large Telescope

**GMT:** Giant Magellan Telescope

**TMT**: Thirty Meter Telescope

WFIRST: Wide Field Infrared Survey Telescope

HabEx: Habitable Exoplanet Observatory

**LUVOIR:** Large UV Optical Infrared Surveyor



Figure 3: A panorama of primary (left) and secondary (right) eclipse spectra of transiting planets. Observations and error bars are obtained from the sources listed in table 1, while nominal models which fit these observations are shown by brown and blue lines. The spectral range affected by water absorption is shaded in blue and water features are present in many of the spectra. Left panel: Transmission spectra of planets arranged by ascending mass. Right panel: Secondary eclipse spectra arranged by ascending temperature and spanning a range of temperature structures from isotherms to profiles with thermal inversions.

versus Mie scattering for larger particles imprint distinct features in the optical transmission spectra and, hence, provide constraints on the presence of clouds/hazes in the atmospheres (274). Furthermore, the presence of high-altitude cloud decks in the atmosphere can also reduce the observable region of the atmosphere and mute the spectral features. Transmission spectra also provide unique probes of exoplanetary exospheres via detections of ionic species which have strong absorption features in the visible and UV (71). Recent studies have also investigated the impact of stellar heterogeneity on the spectral features observed in transmission spectra (178, 198). This is of particular significance to low-mass exoplanets orbiting M Dwarfs which are known to be active (211).

An emission spectrum, on the other hand, directly probes the temperature structure of the dayside atmosphere of the planet along with its chemical composition (132, 256). In principle, the full planetary spectrum observed at secondary eclipse contains both reflection and emission. Whereas reflection dominates at optical wavelengths, corresponding to the

<sup>8</sup> N. Madhusudhan

peak of the stellar spectrum for FGK stars, the planetary emission typically dominates in the infrared owing to the lower temperatures. The planet-star flux contrast increases with wavelength as the star gets fainter and the planet gets brighter with wavelength. Thus, most of the dayside observations of exoplanetary atmospheres have been reported in the infrared. The observed spectrum probes the brightness temperature of the planet at different wavelengths, which effectively translates to measuring the temperatures at different depths in the atmosphere corresponding to the planetary photosphere at different wavelengths. The shapes and amplitudes of the spectral features are governed by both the chemical composition and temperature gradient in the atmosphere. For a given composition, a temperature profile with negative (positive) gradient, i.e., temperature decreasing (increasing) with altitude, leads to absorption (emission) features in the emergent spectrum. Therefore, emission spectra can provide powerful constraints on the presence of thermal inversions in exoplanetary atmospheres (discussed further in section 4.3). At the same time, for a given temperature profile the abundances of the chemical species affect the amplitude of the spectral feature. Thus, thermal emission spectra can provide strong constraints on both the composition as well as the temperature profile of the dayside atmosphere.

A phase curve measures the emergent spectrum of the planet, and hence its atmospheric properties, as a function of orbital phase (256). In addition to the constraints on composition and temperature, thermal phase curves provide direct constraints on the atmospheric dynamics and energy transport in the atmosphere. A thermal phase curve can also be deconstructed to provide the longitudinal temperature distribution in the planetary atmosphere as a function of depth. Thus, atmospheric observations of transiting exoplanets can provide constraints on a wide range of atmospheric processes as discussed above. The specific constraints on the various processes reported by existing observations are discussed in further detail in section 4.

## 2.2. High-resolution Doppler Spectroscopy

High-resolution Doppler spectroscopy of close-in planets has offered a powerful means to detect chemical species in atmospheres of close-in giant exoplanets, particularly hot Jupiters (251, 24). A detailed review of this area can be found in (26). This method involves phase-resolved high-resolution (R  $\sim 10^5$ ) spectroscopy of the star-planet system to infer the Doppler motion of the planet using the planetary spectral lines. The combined spectra, observed using large ground-based facilities, contain contributions from both the stellar and planetary spectra along with telluric features due to the Earth's atmosphere. For a typical hot Jupiter the RV semi-amplitude of the planet is  $1000 \times$  larger than that of the star. Thus, the stellar and telluric features are relatively unchanged during the course of the observations, compared to the planetary spectral lines which undergo significant Doppler shifts. The stellar and telluric features in the data are removed using various detrending methods (37, 24, 47) which aim to remove the non-varying components leaving behind only the time-varying signal from the planet. In addition, some of the spectral regions with dense telluric contamination are masked out in the data. The resulting residual spectra after detrending are then cross-correlated with template planetary spectra containing the expected prominent molecules. For the matching planet spectrum the orbital motion of the planet can be reconstructed; in particular, the radial velocity semi-amplitude of the planet  $(K_p)$  and systemic velocity  $(V_{sys})$  are constrained. A high significance peak in the  $K_p$ - $V_{sys}$ plane constitutes a detection of the molecule present in the model template; typically a  $5-\sigma$ 

signal-to-noise is considered a strong detection. The measured  $K_p$ , along with the known stellar velocity, also provides an independent constraint on the mass of the planet and the orbital inclination of the system(37). This method has been used to detect chemical species in a number of close-in hot Jupiters, e.g. molecular species CO (251, 37), H<sub>2</sub>O (24), TiO (196), HCN (101, 47), and atomic species Fe, Ti, Ti+ (106). In addition to molecular detections, this technique has also led to constraints on the temperature profiles (196) and atmospheric wind speeds(251, 155).

This technique has also been used for atmospheric characterisation of directly-imaged planets at large orbital separations. This has been demonstrated by the CO detection in  $\beta$ Pic b (250) using a combination of high-contrast imaging and high resolution spectroscopy. Given their large orbital separations such planets are not expected to be tidally locked. Thus, their rotational velocity can be measured via the broadening of the spectral line. A rotational velocity of 25 km/s was measured for  $\beta$  Pic b using CO spectral features. The combination of high resolution spectroscopy and high contrast imaging enhances the sensitivities to flux contrasts beyond that achievable by either method. Furthermore, the combination of the cross-correlation technique with adaptive optics assisted integral-field spectrographs at medium resolution can also be used for detecting chemical species across the two-dimensional field of the image. Such 'molecular mapping' has been successfully demonstrated for high-significance detections of prominent molecular species such as H<sub>2</sub>O and CO in directly imaged planets (107, 204).

The future of high-resolution Doppler spectroscopy offers both exciting avenues and commensurate challenges. With the advent of new high-resolution spectrographs, both on current and future facilities, it is natural to expect this as a promising pathway for molecular detections in exoplanetary atmospheres. Indeed, studies have suggested the feasibility of detecting molecules in the atmospheres of terrestrial-size planets with upcoming large facilities such as the E-ELT (248, 220). However, the detection significances of the species are arguably reliant on the metrics used for quantifying the signals and the detrending approaches. Latest studies are beginning to quantify these aspects (47). On another front, this technique on its own is less conducive for measuring the abundances of detected species; the signal is sensitive mainly to the line positions rather than the depths. However, the combination of this technique with low-resolution transit spectroscopy where possible may provide a solution in this regard (41). A viable future direction is one where new chemical species are first detected using the this technique and the targets, if transiting, are then followed up with low-medium resolution transit spectroscopy for abundance estimates. The recent first inferences of HCN (101, 47) and atomic species (106) in hot Jupiters using this technique may be the first steps in this direction.

## 2.3. Direct Imaging

Spectroscopy of planets discovered via direct imaging offers another avenue to characterise exoplanetary atmospheres. In this method, the spectrum of the planet is obtained directly by nulling out the contribution from the star using a coronagraph. Though simple in principle, such observations are challenging given the stringent requirements on the sensitivity and inner-working angle (78). For example, a Jupiter analogue orbiting a sun-like star at 10 pc would require a planet-star flux contrast below  $10^{-7}$  in the near-infrared at an inner working angle of 0.5"; the requirements are even more stringent in the optical. However, for young giant planets with high temperatures ( $\gtrsim 1000$  K) at large orbital separations the



Figure 4: High-quality spectra of transiting (left) and directly-imaged (right) planets obtained with ground-based telescopes (sources are listed in table 1). For the spectra of transiting planets, nominal models which fit the data are also shown. The locations of spectral features arising from different chemical species are marked by dashed lines (left) and brackets (right). In both panels, the spectra are arbitrarily offset for clarity.

planet-star flux contrasts in the near-infrared approaches  $10^{-4}$  making them detectable with current facilities. While the numbers of objects discovered via direct imaging are far fewer than transiting exoplanets, the spectra are typically of higher resolution and higher signal-to-noise ratio owing to the large-aperture ground-based facilities with adaptive optics used for this purpose. As such, the method has been successful in obtaining thermal emission spectra of several young giant exoplanets in the near-infrared.

The atmospheric properties that can be constrained with directly imaged spectra are similar to those for transiting exoplanets but with some important differences. A directly imaged spectrum is similar to an emission spectrum observed for transiting planets as discussed above and, hence, can provide important constraints on the temperature profile and composition of the atmosphere. However, unlike transiting planets the planetary radius and mass, and hence gravity, are not known a priori. This leads to degeneracies in accurately estimating the chemical compositions from the spectra because the shapes of the spectral features depend strongly on the gravity. Nevertheless, the higher resolution and signalto-noise of the observed spectra make it possible to obtain robust detections of chemical species in the atmospheres notwithstanding the challenges in obtaining specific quantitative constraints on the atmospheric properties. For example, high-confidence detections of  $H_2O$ , CO, and CH<sub>4</sub> have been reported for several directly imaged exoplanets in recent years (see table 1). Given the long orbital periods, the spectrum of a planet is typically obtained at a single orbital phase which is unknown, which restricts constraints on atmospheric dynamics. However, precise constraints on the globally-averaged compositions and temperature profiles at the observed phase are possible using atmospheric retrieval techniques. Additionally, given the low irradiation regime the atmospheric temperature profiles of directly imaged planets are expected to be markedly different from those of transiting exoplanets which tend to be highly irradiated. Initial constraints have been reported for a few objects while highlighting the challenges in resolving the various degeneracies. The specific constraints obtained for directly imaged planets are discussed in more detail in section 4.

The observational landscape of atmospheric characterisation of directly imaged planets is promising, limited only by sample size. Only  $\sim 10$  directly imaged planets have been discovered since the first detections a decade ago (174, 118). The small current sample is arguably due to the paucity of giant exoplanets orbiting young stars at large orbital separations with flux contrasts above the detection thresholds of extant surveys. However, with new surveys increasingly aiming at higher sensitivities and inner working angles the sample size is likely to increase (93). On the other hand, current facilities have already provided spectacular spectra for some of these known planets, such as those in the HR 8799 system (e.g., 15, 129, 14, 174, 144, 143, 93) and 51 Eri b (159). The high-quality spectra are obtained thanks to high-contrast instruments on large-aperture ground-based telescopes operating in the near-infrared e.g., Keck (129), GPI on Gemini (93), SCExAO on Subaru (117), SPHERE on VLT (29). In the near future, the JWST will provide a high-stability platform for high-contrast imaging and spectroscopy in the near-mid infrared from space (21). In the late 2020s, NASA's WFIRST mission is expected provide another space-based platform for direct imaging of giant exoplanets, particularly in the optical.

These facilities will be followed by the 25-40 m class telescopes in the next decade (midlate 2020s), such as the E-ELT (39.3m), TMT (30m), and GMT (25.4 m), which will have unprecedented sensitivity for direct imaging. The E-ELT could in principle allow the detection of some atmospheric signatures of habitable-zone super-Earths and Earth-like planets orbiting the nearest stars (248). The high sensitivities required for such observations may be achieved by a combination of high dispersion spectroscopy and high contrast imaging, as has been demonstrated for the giant planet  $\beta$  Pic b with the VLT(250). While an exciting possibility, such observations will still be limited to spectral regions with relatively weaker telluric contamination and/or thermal background and, hence, limited molecular features in the NIR. On the other hand, space based facilities can provide the capabilities to surmount these limitations by offering broad spectral coverage (UV to IR) and very high sensitivities. Studies are underway for future large space-borne facilities in the 2030s focused on direct imaging and spectroscopy of habitable-zone exoplanets in search of potential biosignatures. Two such examples are HabEx (90) and LUVOIR (156). These mission concepts aim at very high contrast  $\leq 10^{-10}$  direct imaging and spectroscopy over the UV-NIR spectral range using different flux suppression techniques and apertures, e.g. 4-m aperture for HabEx with coronograph and starshade, and 8-12 m aperture for LUVOIR with a coronograph.

#### SUMMARY POINTS

- 1. Advances in atmospheric spectroscopy have been made in three directions: (1) Transit spectroscopy, (2) Direct imaging, (3) High-resolution Doppler spectroscopy
- 2. Transit spectroscopy has been the most successful method: Nearly 100 exoplanets with atmospheres detected and over 20 giant exoplanets with high-precision multi-band spectra.
- 3. Transit spectroscopy allows observations of transmission spectra of day-night terminator, thermal emission spectra of dayside, and phase curves over the orbit.
- 4. Direct imaging provides high S/N thermal emission spectra at a single phase. Nearly 10 directly imaged planets known with high quality spectra available for several of them.
- 5. High-resolution Doppler spectroscopy allows detection of chemical signatures in planetary spectra Doppler shifted due to radial velocity of the planet. Chemical detections made in seven hot Jupiters.

#### 3. Theoretical Advancements

Alongside observations, important advancements are being made in theoretical modelling and inverse methods to investigate exoplanetary atmospheres. These developments can be classified into three main categories: (1) Forward spectral modelling, (2) Retrieval methods (or inverse methods), and (3) Atmospheric theory. The primary observable in the characterisation of an exoplanetary atmosphere is an atmospheric spectrum. Firstly, even before an observation is made, a theoretical model spectrum is required to assess the feasibility of the observation and to predict the potential science return from the observation. This is the goal of forward spectral models which are used to compute spectra of exoplanetary atmospheres under specific assumptions about the atmospheric properties such as chemical abundances, chemical equilibrium, and/or radiative-convective equilibrium. Once the true spectrum of the planet is observed it may or may not match the spectrum predicted a priori. Thus, in practice, the observed spectrum is interpreted using atmospheric retrieval methods, or inverse methods, which involve deriving statistical constraints on the atmospheric properties of a planet from the spectral data using robust parameter estimation methods. The models used in retrievals, in this case, do not assume chemical/radiative equilibrium but rather use parametric atmospheric properties to be constrained by the data. Beyond spectral models and inverse methods, a wide range of studies use detailed theoretical models to investigate the various physical and chemical processes possible in exoplanetary atmospheres, e.g., nonequilibrium chemistry, atmospheric circulation, clouds/hazes, atmospheric escape, thermal inversions, and the like. In what follows, we review the key advancements in these areas.

#### 3.1. Self-consistent Models

Self-consistent models are used to compute spectra of exoplanetary atmospheres for given assumptions about macroscopic parameters such as gravity, irradiation, and elemental abundances. Self-consistent models currently used in the field range from plane-parallel 1D models in chemical and radiative-convective equilibrium to full three-dimensional general circulation models (GCMs). Detailed reviews of such models can be found in various recent works (167, 89, 110, 105, 173). Here we briefly summarise the state-of-the-art. While 1-D models are the most commonly used to predict and interpret individual spectra, GCMs are used extensively in interpreting phase-resolved spectra and photometric phase curves.

**3.1.1. 1-D Equilibrium Models.** A one-dimensional self-consistent model typically assumes an elemental composition (e.g., solar abundances) and equilibrium conditions such as thermochemical equilibrium and radiative-convective equilibrium, in a plane-parallel geometry. While the assumption of chemical equilibrium allows computation of the chemical abundances (i.e. atomic or molecular abundances) from the elemental abundances, the condition of radiative-convective equilibrium allows computation of the pressure-temperature (P-T)profile in the atmosphere consistent with the chemistry. The assumption of radiativeconvective equilibrium is particularly relevant for modelling thermal emission spectra of exoplanets because the temperature gradients in the atmosphere play a critical role in the formation of emergent spectral features. The models compute radiative transfer through the atmosphere with the resultant chemical composition and P-T profile to generate the spectrum. A number of such models are available in the literature today with varying degrees of sophistication and flexibility. Early models in the field until recently were generally adapted from stellar spectral models and were computed on fixed grids of opacities, e.g., assuming solar elemental ratios with varying metallicities (231, 13, 81, 43). Newer models are now being custom-built for exoplanetary atmospheres and allow more flexible computations of spectra over a wider range of conditions to reflect the possible diversity of exoplanetary atmospheres (68, 182, 170, 89). These models span a wide range in chemical abundances (e.g. C/O ratios and metallicities), irradiation (from highly irradiated to non-irradiated), treatment of clouds/hazes, and strong visible absorbers such as TiO/VO that can cause thermal inversions. These models differ in their treatment of various aspects such as the radiative transfer, radiative versus convective energy transport, scattering, and opacities (110).

Central to all atmospheric models are the sources of opacity considered. The opacity is driven by the combination of chemical abundances and their absorption cross sections. While the chemical abundances depend on the modelling approach as discussed in this section (e.g. assuming chemical equilibrium, disequilibrium or parametric abundances), their absorption cross sections are fixed in the models. Therefore, the accuracy of model spectra are critically reliant on the accuracy of the absorption line lists from which the cross sections are derived. Such accurate line lists are required for a wide range of temperatures ( $\sim 300 - 4000$  K) and compositions possible in exoplanetary atmospheres, which extend beyond traditional applications. This need has been widely recognised in the field and substantial progress has been made in recent years towards accurate high-temperature linelists of numerous molecular species of importance for exoplanetary atmospheres (260). For example, recent line lists are now available for various species including H<sub>2</sub>O (10, 221), CO (221, 147), CO<sub>2</sub> (221, 108, 109), CH<sub>4</sub> (284, 285), NH<sub>3</sub> (283), HCN (100, 11), collisioninduced-absorption (215) and AlO (203). These developments have greatly improved the accuracies of such line lists as well as their applicability to exoplanetary atmospheres.

**3.1.2. General Circulation Models.** GCMs solve the full three-dimensional structure of the atmosphere given the planetary bulk parameters and irradiation field. These models compute the chemical, thermal, dynamical and radiative properties of the atmosphere in extensive detail. Starting with the first coupled GCMs, with both radiative

and dynamical treatment, about a decade ago (239) a number of GCMs are prevalent in the field today with varied levels of complexity. The latest GCMs span a wide range of irradiation conditions, from highly irradiated planets to non-irradiated isolated substellar objects, and orbital parameters (e.g., eccentricities, obliquities), and masses (e.g. 238, 202, 122, 145, 212, 153, 67, 36, 66, 180). These models have been used to explain phase-resolved spectra and thermal phase curves of hot Jupiters (239, 122, 153) and to explore various physical processes in detail (239, 202, 200, 67). One of the key successes of GCMs is the predictions of strong equatorial jets in irradiated hot Jupiters that can lead to shifting of the hot spot in the dayside atmospheres away from the sub-stellar point (240). This effect, predicted nearly a decade ago (240, 239), has been substantiated by other GCMs in the literature (e.g. 213, 241, 67) as well as by numerous observations of hot Jupiters as discussed in section 4.4. These models have also recently considered the effect of latent heat on the atmospheric properties through condensate formation and chemical recombination (259, 22). GCM models also show a trend of day-night temperature contrasts in hot Jupiters increasing with equilibrium temperatures (128), consistent with observations and empirical studies (128, 224). Atmospheres of highly irradiated and tidally locked hot Jupiters have also been predicted to contain larger planetary-scale bands compared to those of weakly irradiated and faster rotating planets like the solar-system giant planets.

Recent studies are moving beyond hot Jupiter atmospheres with solar abundances. Early GCMs typically assumed solar elemental abundances for hot Jupiters, from which the molecular compositions were calculated assuming thermochemical equilibrium. Recent GCMs are now being used to explore the effect of chemical composition on the dynamical processes in the atmospheres. New GCMs are capable of simultaneously modelling the dynamics coupled with chemistry, radiative transfer, and clouds (202, 200, 145, 67, 153). GCMs are now also exploring lower-mass planets which are within the reach of current and forthcoming observational facilities. In particular, several studies have explored the effect of metallicities in sub-Jovian mass planets such as Neptunes and super-Earths which are not necessarily hydrogen-rich (146, 287, 67). Such studies have sought to model and explain observations of thermal phase curves of super-Earths, e.g 55 Cancri e, that are already feasible with current facilities (65).

#### 3.2. Atmospheric Retrieval

Atmospheric retrieval refers to deriving the atmospheric properties of a planet from its observed spectrum. The canonical retrieval method comprises a parametric forward model of an exoplanetary atmosphere coupled with a parameter estimation algorithm to estimate the model parameters given a spectral dataset. The free parameters in the model include the dominant chemical species with strong features in the observed spectral bandpass, the temperature profile, and the macroscopic clouds/haze parameters, e.g. the location in the atmosphere, spatial extent and opacity, besides any other free parameters relevant to the spectrum at hand. Starting with the first retrieval codes a decade ago, a number of codes are currently available in the field with applicability over the wide range of observations possible. A recent review of existing retrieval codes and capabilities in the field can be found in (162). The latest developments in retrievals include incorporation of non-equilibrium phenomena at varying levels of complexity, such as different prescriptions for clouds/hazes (e.g. 16, 151, 143, 157), deviations from radiative-convective equilibrium (89), and benchmarking with three-dimensional circulation models (27). On the other hand, state-of-the-art codes use a

wide range of parameter estimation methods spanning Markov chain Monte Carlo methods (27), optimal estimation gradient-descent algorithms (16), nested sampling algorithms (e.g., 23), and machine learning algorithms (279). In recent years, state-of-the-art retrieval codes have allowed detailed constraints on the chemical compositions, temperature profiles, and properties of clouds/hazes in a number of exoplanets, both transiting and directly-imaged (162).

#### 3.3. Disequilibrium Models

Planetary atmospheres are seldom in equilibrium in entirety. Various processes can drive an atmosphere out of chemical, radiative, and thermal equilibria. These processes, illustrated in Fig. 1, include vertical mixing and photochemical processes, circulation, clouds/hazes, atmospheric escape, etc., one or more of which dominate in any observed region of the atmosphere. The ultimate model atmosphere would include all these processes simultaneously over the entire atmosphere, troposphere to exosphere. However, such a comprehensive unified model for exoplanetary atmospheres is impractical at present. Additionally, exoplanetary spectra are typically observed in a limited spectral band at a time constraining some atmospheric properties/processes but with almost no constraints on other aspects. Therefore, a realisable and useful approach currently is to explore each individual processes in detail while allowing for appropriate boundary conditions or simplified prescriptions to represent the interplay with other processes. This has been the approach in the field. Theoretical studies in recent years have explored each of the aforementioned processes in exoplanetary atmospheres in varied detail as summarised below. Here we only discuss briefly developments in atmospheric chemistry and clouds/hazes. A comprehensive review of theoretical developments in atmospheric escape processes can be found in (199).

**3.3.1.** Atmospheric Chemistry. State-of-the-art models of atmospheric chemistry in exoplanets span a wide range in complexity. While the most extensive chemical networks are considered in 1-D models of non-equilibrium chemistry (e.g., 188, 267, 263), recent studies are beginning to combine chemical codes in 3-D General Circulation Models (287, 67). A recent review of such models can be found in (163). The chemistry in a planetary atmosphere is a strong function of the macroscopic parameters such as the elemental abundances (e.g., of H, O, C), stellar irradiation, gravity, and mean molecular mass. In particular, there is a clear dichotomy between primary atmospheres which are expected to be dominated by  $H_2/He$  as in the giant planets and secondary atmospheres that are expected to be dominated by heavier molecules such as  $H_2O$ ,  $CO_2$ , or  $N_2$ , as in the terrestrial planets. Given the bulk properties, the key processes governing the chemistry in a planetary atmosphere include chemical equilibrium, mixing processes, photochemistry, and chemical diffusion. Each of these processes dominate in a particular region of the atmosphere (see e.g. Fig. 1), depending primarily on the incident irradiation and, hence, the temperature profile in the atmosphere. Chemical equilibrium dominates in the deep atmosphere, typically for  $P \gtrsim 1$ bar where the high density and temperature lead to fast thermochemical reactions. At the other extreme, photochemical reactions dominate in the upper atmosphere typically for  $P \lesssim 10^{-3}$  bar where the incident UV/optical flux is high and the densities are too low for thermochemical reactions to dominate. In the intermediate regions between these two extremes dynamical processes, such as vertical mixing, dominate the chemical composition of the atmosphere. Recent studies have investigated the critical dependence of all aspects

of chemistry in exoplanetary atmospheres on the macroscopic parameters, e.g. the level of stellar irradiation, metallicity, and C/O ratio (188, 186, 268, 287, 68).

**3.3.2.** Clouds/Hazes. A critical factor in the understanding of exoplanetary atmospheres is the prevalence of clouds/hazes which can affect both the atmospheric processes and the observed spectra. Numerous theoretical studies have posited the ubiquity of clouds in atmospheres at all temperatures. Detailed reviews on models of clouds/hazes in exoplanetary and sub-stellar atmospheres can be found in (173, 163). While the clouds in solar system planets are composed of volatile-rich condensates (e.g.  $H_2O$ ,  $NH_3$ , hydrocarbons, etc.), those in hot exoplanets can span a wide range of refractory-rich compositions. Models of exoplanetary atmospheres over the years have explored the effects of a wide range of clouds/hazes on exoplanetary spectra, both for irradiated planets observed via transit as well as directly-imaged planets. Recent developments on the understanding of clouds/hazes in exoplanetary atmospheres have proceeded in two directions. On one hand, there have been major efforts on self-consistent cloud modelling at varying levels of detail - from onedimensional self-consistent models (e.g., 172, 182, 68) to three dimensional cloud models (202, 67), as well as detailed studies of clouds microphysics (103). On the other hand, various studies have explored the range of cloud compositions observable with existing and upcoming facilities (176, 274, 205), spanning from refractory clouds in high-temperature atmospheres to volatile clouds in low-temperature atmospheres.

#### SUMMARY POINTS

- 1. Advancements in atmospheric modelling of exoplanets have been made in various directions, spanning 1-D to 3-D self-consistent models, atmospheric retrievals, and models of various disequilibrium processes.
- 2. Self-consistent spectral models are used to compute the spectra of exoplanetary atmospheres given the macroscopic parameters (e.g., gravity, irradiation, elemental abundances) and assumptions of chemical and/or radiative-convective equilibrium.
- 3. Forward models range from one-dimensional equilibrium models to threedimensional general circulation models (GCM).
- 4. Atmospheric retrievals, or inverse modelling, involves using parametric models and parameter estimation methods to derive atmospheric properties from observed spectra. Derived properties include chemical compositions, temperature profiles, cloud/hazes, and deviations from chemical or radiative equilibrium.
- 5. Disequilibrium models include detailed modelling of various processes that drive atmospheres out of chemical and/or radiative equilibria, e.g., kinetic processes, photochemistry, clouds/hazes, and atmospheric escape.

## 4. Atmospheric Characterisation of Exoplanets

The combination of state-of-the-art spectroscopic observations and theoretical modelling and retrieval techniques have led to detailed constraints on a wide range of atmospheric properties in numerous exoplanets. Atmospheres of nearly one hundred exoplanets have now been observed in at least two photometric bandpasses, low resolution spectra have been obtained for nearly 40 planets, and medium-high resolution spectra obtained for nearly ten exoplanets. This is a revolutionary development from a decade ago when barely 25 exoplanets were known to transit and the first directly imaged planets were being discovered. These new observations have led to unprecedented constraints on chemical compositions, temperature profiles, clouds/hazes, atmospheric dynamics, and atmospheric escape, for numerous exoplanets. Here we highlight some of the most recent advances in the characterisation of exoplanetary atmospheres.

#### 4.1. Chemical Compositions

The wide spectral range of exoplanetary spectra observed has enabled robust detections of several key chemical species in their atmospheres, as shown in Table 1. As alluded to in section 1, atomic and ionic species have strong absorption in the UV and visible due to their electronic transitions. On the other hand, prominent molecular species of volatile elements such as  $H_2O$ , CO,  $CH_4$ , etc. show strong absorption in the infrared due to their rovibrational transitions, though heavier molecules such as TiO and VO also show strong absorption in the visible. The combination of spectroscopic measurements at different wavelengths and different observing techniques has led to a range of chemical compositions observed in diverse planets. The different chemical species detected probe different regions in the planetary atmosphere, as shown in Fig. 1. The strong UV and visible absorbers such as the atomic species probe the upper regions of the atmospheres where photochemistry is most active, with the ionic species probing the exospheres. On the other hand, the molecular species probe the infrared photosphere between  $\sim 1$  mbar - 1 bar. Table 1 shows the chemical species detected using each observing method. While transmission spectra have been used to probe atmospheres over the entire spectral range from UV - infrared, the emission spectra of both transiting planets and directly imaged planets have been observed predominantly in the infrared where the thermal emission peaks.

Table 1: Chemical detections in exoplanetary atmospheres with different observing techniques.

.

(D ·

**D** 1.

. .

m

a

Iransmission Spectra (Primary Eclipse)				
Chemical Species	Planet (References)			
H <sub>2</sub> O	HD 189733b (178), HD 209458b (63), WASP-12b (133), WASP-17b (171), WASP-19b (112), WASP-39b (276), WASP-43b (132), WASP-52b (266), WASP-63b (123), WASP-69b (266), WASP-76b (266), WASP-121b (77), HAT-P-1b (275), HAT-P-11b (84), HAT-P-18b (266), HAT-P-26b (277), HAT-P-32b (60), HAT-P-41b (266), XO-1b (63)			
Na	HD 189733b (214), HD 209458b (50), WASP-17b (244), WASP-39b (194), WASP-52b (52), WASP-69b (48), WASP-96b (193), WASP-127b (53), HAT-P-1b (195), XO-2b (245)			

Continued on next page

	Table 1 – Continued from previous page
Chemical Species	Planet (References)
K	WASP-6b (192), WASP-31b (247), WASP-39b (244), WASP-127b (53), HAT-P-12b (244), XO-2b (243), HD 80606b (55)
TiO	WASP-19b (232)
AlO	WASP-33b (273)
Н	HD 189733b (116, 33), HD 209458b (272, 116), GJ 436b (71)
Не	WASP-107b (253)
С	HD 209458b (270)
0	HD 209458b (270)
Li	WASP-127b (53)
$\operatorname{Ca}$	HD 209458b (8)
$\mathbf{Sc}$	HD 209458b (8)
Mg	WASP-107b (271), WASP-12b (83)
Si	HD 209458b (223)
En	nission Spectra (Secondary Eclipse)
$\mathrm{H}_{2}\mathrm{O}$	WASP-43b (132), HD 209458b (151), HD 189733b (59), WASP-121b (76), Kepler-13Ab (20), WASP-33b (102)
CO	WASP-18b (236)
VO	WASP-121b (76)
TiO	WASP-33b (102)
HCN	HD 209458b (101)

Table 1 - Continued fr

Continued on next page

www.annualreviews.org • Exoplanetary Atmospheres 19

Chemical Species	Planet (References)			
High-resolution Doppler Spectroscopy				
$H_2O$	51 Peg b (25), HD 179949 b (39), HD 189733 b (24), HD 209458 b (101) $\!\!\!$			
СО	$\tau$ Bootis b (37), HD 209458 b (251), 51 Peg b (38), HD 179949 b (39), HD 189733 b (219, 40)			
TiO	WASP-33b (196)			
HCN	HD 209458b (101), HD 189733b (47)			
Ti, Fe, Ti+	KELT-9b (106)			
Direct Imaging				
$\rm H_2O$	HR 8799b (144), HR 8799c (129), HR 8799d (143), HR 8799e (143), $\kappa$ And b (262), 51 Eri b (222), Gl 570D (152), HD 3651B (152), $\beta$ Pic (54), ULAS 1416 (149)			
$\mathrm{CH}_4$	HR 8799b (14), 51 Eri b (222), GJ 504 (114), GJ 758 B (115), Gl 570D (152), HD 3651B (152), ULAS 1416 (149)			
$ m NH_3$	Gl 570D (152), HD 3651B (152), ULAS 1416 (149)			
СО	HR 8799b (144), HR 8799c (129)			

 Table 1 – Continued from previous page

**4.1.1.** Atomic and lonic Species. The first chemical detections in exoplanetary atmospheres were of atomic and ionic species observed using HST transmission spectra in the optical and UV (50, 272). Nearly 20 chemical species have now been detected in exoplanetary atmospheres as shown in table 1. In recent years, chemical species have been detected both from space, using HST, as well as large ground-based telescopes. Foremost among these are detections of the alkali species Na and K, one or both of which have now been detected in over a dozen transiting hot Jupiters. The Na doublet has peaks near 576.8 nm whereas K peaks near 778.8 nm. Many of the Na and K detections have been made using the HST STIS spectrograph in the visible (e.g., 244). Recently, He was also detected in the atmosphere of a giant exoplanet using HST at 1083 nm (253). A major development in recent years has been the ability to detect these species routinely and robustly using ground-based facilities. While the first ground-based Na/K detections were already made a decade ago (e.g., 214), recent observations are demonstrating nearly space-quality spectra from large ground-based

telescopes such as VLT and GTC (193, 53). Besides Na and K, the first potential inference of Li was also made from the ground recently using the GTC (53). The above detections were made using medium-resolution spectra from space and the ground. On the other hand, atomic species have also been detected using very high-resolution spectroscopy of transiting planets, e.g. Na and K in the hot Jupiter HD 189733b (282) and Ti and Fe in the ultra hot Jupiter KELT-9b (106).

In addition, several atomic and ionic species have also been discovered using transmission spectra in the UV with HST. These are elements in the exosphere which originated from photodissociation of molecules in the lower atmosphere followed by interactions with higher energy UV photons in the upper atmosphere. Several of the detections are of Lyman alpha absorption of exospheric hydrogen (H) at 121.6 nm using the HST STIS instrument (272, 71). On the other hand, some heavier elements such as C, O, and Mg, have also been detected in the NUV (270, 83). Overall, such exospheric elements have been discovered in nearly ten giant exoplanets, mostly for hot Jupiters but also including a hot Neptune (136, 71). Efforts to detect exospheric elements in super-Earths have not yet resulted in detections but have provided important upper limits on the composition of the lower atmosphere. For example, the non-detection of H in the super-Earth 55 Cancri e rules out a hydrogen-rich atmosphere in the planet and places an upper-limit on the possible amount of  $H_2O$  in the atmosphere (70).

**4.1.2.** Molecular Species. The advent of high-sensitivity infrared spectrographs has made it feasible to robustly detect molecules in exoplanetary atmospheres. The most important molecules in planetary atmospheres are those containing the prominent elements after H and He, namely O, C, and N. Theoretical studies have long predicted that key volatile molecules such as  $H_2O$ ,  $CH_4$ , CO, HCN,  $CO_2$  should be present in  $H_2$ -rich atmospheres at high temperatures, e.g. of hot Jupiters, depending on the metallicity, temperature, and C/O ratios (e.g., 46, 189, 161). However, the search for these molecules in exoplanetary atmospheres is usually limited by the spectral range and sensitivities of available instruments. A decade ago only a handful of molecular inferences were reported with very low resolution spectro-photometric data which have since been revised in subsequent analyses. Here we focus on the current state-of-the-art molecular detections.

A major development in this area occurred in the last few years with the advent of the HST Wide Field Camera 3 (WFC3) (177) which allowed high-precision near-infrared spectroscopy of transiting exoplanets (63). The spectral range of the HST WFC3 G141 grism of 1.1-1.7  $\mu$ m contains strong spectral bands of key volatile species such as H<sub>2</sub>O, CH<sub>4</sub>, NH<sub>3</sub>, and HCN, making it a prime instrument for molecular spectroscopy of exoplanetary atmospheres. Among these species, H<sub>2</sub>O has the strongest features in this band and is also predicted to be the most abundant oxygen-bearing species, besides CO, in high temperature atmospheres (161, 188). In the last five years, spectra of nearly 40 transiting exoplanets have been observed with HST WFC3 and robust detections of H<sub>2</sub>O have been reported in over ten transiting exoplanets (63, 178, 132, 244, 266). Most of the detections were made for gas giants, though H<sub>2</sub>O has also been detected in a few exo-Neptunes (85, 277). Beyond H<sub>2</sub>O, initial indications have also been suggested for HCN and NH<sub>3</sub> using HST WFC3 transit spectroscopy (158, 123). In addition, signs of TiO, VO, and AlO have also been reported using HST and/or large ground-based facilities (102, 76, 232, 273).

Complementary to transmission spectra, molecular detections have also been reported using thermal emission spectra of transiting exoplanets. Such spectra using HST WFC3



Figure 5: Atmospheric H<sub>2</sub>O abundances for exoplanets in the literature. The abundances shown here are those with uncertainties smaller than 2 dex. The methods used in each case are denoted by colour; primary transit (orange), secondary eclipse (blue) and direct imaging (green). The regions of sub-solar and super-solar abundances are shown in light and dark blue, respectively. Methane abundances of the Solar System planets are shown in red (since their water abundances are not known), and a power-law fit for these measurements is shown by the red line. The methane abundances are obtained from the following sources: Jupiter and Saturn (9, 281, 79), Neptune (121), and Uranus (254). The exoplanet H<sub>2</sub>O abundances are from various works: HD 209458b (206, 151), HD 189733b (206, 278), WASP-12b (206), WASP-43b (132), WASP-33b (102), TrES-3 (148), GJ 436b (187), HAT-P-26b (277), WASP-39b (206), HR 8799 planets (143),  $\kappa$  And b (262).

have led to detections of  $H_2O$  in the dayside of several hot Jupiters (e.g., 59, 132, 151) as well as high-temperature molecules such as TiO (102) and VO (76). At a lower resolution, inferences of CO have been reported in some hot Jupiters based on infrared photometry using Spitzer in the 3.6 and 4.5  $\mu$ m IRAC bands (e.g., 236).

Beyond transit spectroscopy, more molecular detections at high confidence have now been made through direct imaging and Doppler spectroscopy. High resolution Doppler spectroscopy has led to detections of various molecules including CO (251, 37), H<sub>2</sub>O (24), TiO (196), and HCN (101) in hot Jupiters. At the same time, spectroscopy of directly imaged planets have led to detections of CO (129), H<sub>2</sub>O (14, 129, 262, 222), and CH<sub>4</sub> (14, 222, 114) in the atmospheres of several planets. Typically, current data quality for directly imaged objects is significantly better compared to transit planets (129, 262, 160). On the other hand, comparative characterisation of directly imaged planets are limited by the much smaller number of objects know, compared to transiting planets, and the lack of prior knowledge about the masses, radii, and gravity.

4.1.3. Chemical Abundances. Beyond detections of chemical species, the high quality spectra have also led to constraints on the atmospheric chemical abundances using detailed retrieval methods. A recent review of retrieval methods and abundance constraints can be found in (162). Here, we briefly highlight the state-of-the-art abundance constraints. Despite the detections of a wide range of chemical species in tens of exoplanets, robust abundance constraints are available for only a subset of those planets due to the challenges in retrieving abundances from observed spectra. Firstly, constraints on chemical abundances are presently possible using both transit spectroscopy (transmission and emission) and thermal emission spectra of directly imaged planets. Currently, high resolution Doppler spectroscopy on its own is not as sensitive to abundance determinations (24, 41). Secondly, even within transit spectroscopy reliable estimations of chemical abundances require a wide spectral coverage and very high precision observations. In particular, in transmission spectroscopy robust spectra across the visible to near-infrared are required to break the degeneracies between the chemical abundances and the presence of clouds/hazes in the atmosphere. In emission spectra, high-precision observations are required to break the degeneracies between abundances and temperature profiles.

Currently, the most stringent constraints on chemical abundances have been possible for H<sub>2</sub>O. Observations of transit spectroscopy in the HST WFC3 band at 1.1-1.7  $\mu$ m span a strong H<sub>2</sub>O feature near 1.4  $\mu$ m. Furthermore, the HST STIS band in the optical provides important constraints on clouds/hazes in the atmosphere, thereby resolving degeneracies with composition. Such observations have been used to retrieve H<sub>2</sub>O abundances for over ten transiting hot Jupiters and Neptunes (16, 206, 277). Similarly, emission spectra in the near-infrared with HST WFC3 have led to constraints on H<sub>2</sub>O abundances in the dayside atmospheres of several hot Jupiters (132, 151). In addition to this, ground-based spectra of directly imaged planets have also provided initial constraints on H<sub>2</sub>O abundances (262, 143).

The estimated  $H_2O$  abundances in transiting and directly-imaged planets are shown in Fig. 5. Most of the H<sub>2</sub>O abundance estimates are derived from transmission spectra obtained using HST STIS and WFC3 instruments spanning the optical to near-infrared instruments. While the infrared WFC3 spectral range contains the H<sub>2</sub>O feature the optical range is necessary to resolve degeneracies with clouds/hazes. Overall, the abundance estimates from transmission spectra across all transiting hot Jupiters known to date are consistent with sub-solar H<sub>2</sub>O abundances. Whether such low abundances are due to low metallicities in the atmosphere or high C/O ratios is currently unknown. A detailed discussion on these aspects can be found in (162). The handful of constraints obtained from emission spectra of a few transiting exoplanets are consistent with both sub-solar and supersolar H<sub>2</sub>O abundances given their larger uncertainties. On the other hand, directly imaged planets with their superior spectral quality have led to much more precise abundance estimates and indicate super-solar H<sub>2</sub>O abundances (262, 143).

#### 4.2. Clouds/Hazes

Inferences of clouds/hazes in exoplanetary atmospheres have been made using varied techniques and instruments. The effect of clouds/hazes on exoplanetary transmission spectra is evident through (a) subdued spectral features of prominent chemical species (63), and (b) slopes in optical spectra that are deviant from gaseous Rayleigh scattering (209). In addition, the effects of clouds have also been inferred through optical phase curves of transiting exoplanets (64, 242, 91, 200) as well as a few reflection spectra (75, 175). At the same time, clouds have also been inferred in directly imaged planets through the modulation of their spectral features in the infrared (173). A survey of observational inferences of clouds/hazes until a few years ago can be found in (163). Here, we outline some key trends.

One of the most surprising findings from the large ensemble of exoplanetary transmission spectra observed is the consistently low spectral amplitudes of  $H_2O$  absorption features. In the tens of transmission spectra observed to date, for exoplanets over a wide range of masses and temperatures from cool super-Earths to ultra hot Jupiters, every single one has a  $H_2O$ feature that is below two scale heights (86, 255, 58). This is in stark contrast to expectations, for which a saturated spectral feature in a transmission spectrum is expected to have an amplitude of ~5-10 scale heights. The low spectral amplitudes may indicate either lower  $H_2O$  abundances than assumed in equilibrium models (166), the presence of high-altitude clouds obscuring part of the atmosphere (80, 63), or a high mean molecular weight (150). One way to break the degeneracy is through observations in the optical which, as discussed above, can constrain the scattering mechanisms and hence the presence of clouds/hazes.

A recent survey of transmission spectra (244) spanning the optical and infrared range provided important constraints on both the properties of clouds/hazes as well as the H<sub>2</sub>O abundances in ten hot Jupiters. Initial inferences of the data using forward equilibrium models reported the possibility of clouds with no evidence for H<sub>2</sub>O depletion (244). However, as discussed in previous section, subsequent studies using atmospheric retrieval methods showed evidence for depleted H<sub>2</sub>O abundances in most of the planets in the sample, along with varied levels of clouds/hazes (16, 206). These studies show a diverse range of cloud properties, including the optical slopes, cloud fractions, and cloud-top pressures. Most importantly, these studies show the critical role of the optical range in transmission spectra for constraining both the clouds/hazes as well as the composition. Indeed, other studies that used only near-infrared HST WFC3 spectra show significantly weaker constraints on the cloud parameters and/or the H<sub>2</sub>O abundances (266). On the other hand, the lowtemperature super-Earths and Neptunes have mostly shown flat spectra in the WFC3 bandpass (131, 124) with a few exceptions (85, 277), which indicate the predominance of clouds in low-temperature atmospheres.

The potential pervasiveness of clouds/hazes has motivated various studies to devise empirical metrics to quantify the cloudiness in exoplanetary atmospheres. Some studies suggest a metric based on the amplitude of the  $H_2O$  feature relative to the continuum in adjacent wavelengths (244, 255), or the amplitude of the Na/K line centre relative to their adjacent continua (104). Using known transmission spectra these studies find an intuitive anti-correlation between irradiation and cloud levels, i.e., the likelihood of clouds in atmospheres of hot Jupiters decreases with increasing equilibrium temperature.

#### 4.3. Temperature Structures

Temperature profiles of planetary atmospheres provide important insights into radiative processes and their interplay with chemical and dynamical processes. Measurements of pressure-temperature (P-T) profiles in exoplanetary atmospheres are obtained primarily from thermal emission spectra. An emission spectrum probes the brightness temperature in the atmosphere as a function of the wavelength and, hence, the pressure or altitude corresponding to the photosphere at that wavelength. In principle, transmission spectra of

transiting planets also provide some constraints on the temperature at the day-night terminator region of the atmosphere but the constraints are relatively weak. This is because there is almost no information in a transmission spectrum about emission from the planet, and the constraint on temperature is primarily through the atmospheric scale height which governs the amplitude of the absorption feature. Therefore, the most stringent constraints on P-T profiles in exoplanetary atmospheres have been obtained for dayside thermal emission spectra of transiting hot Jupiters. A detailed review of observational inferences of atmospheric P-T profiles in exoplanets and their theoretical implications have been discussed in several recent works (167, 163, 162). Here we focus on the latest developments in this area and future directions.

Recently, new directions are emerging in our understanding of P-T profiles in exoplanets. Originally, constraints on P-T profiles were obtained using only two or more channels of broadband photometry (e.g., at 3.6  $\mu$ m and 4.5  $\mu$ m). However, current inferences are based on HST WFC3 spectra in the near-infrared in the 1.1-1.7  $\mu$ m band along with Spitzer photometry, making the inferences much more robust. Broadly, three classes of P-T profiles have been robustly measured in hot Jupiters: (1) P-T profiles with no thermal inversions, (2) P-T profiles with thermal inversions, and (3) isothermal profiles. Almost all the hot Jupiters observed to date with equilibrium temperatures below  $\sim 2000$  K show temperature profiles clearly decreasing outward, i.e., with no thermal inversions. More irradiated hot Jupiters show a greater diversity of P-T profiles. Most of these extremely irradiated planets show P-T profiles consistent with isothermal profiles. A handful of these planets also show P-T profiles with no thermal inversions, i.e. with temperatures decreasing outward. And finally, after over a decade of searches, three ultra-hot Jupiters (T $_{\rm eq}\gtrsim 2500$  K) have been found with detections of thermal inversions in their dayside atmospheres: WASP-18b (236, 6), WASP-121b (76), and WASP-33b (102). In summary, while it is now evident that very high temperatures ( $\gtrsim 2500$  K) are a necessary condition for thermal inversions, it is not a sufficient condition since some ultra-hot Jupiters show no signs of thermal inversions (20).

Observational constraints are beginning to provide new insights into the conditions responsible for thermal inversions in irradiated hot Jupiters. Given that thermal inversions are being seen only in the most highly irradiated planets, the so-called 'ultra-hot Jupiters', there is support to the original prediction of TiO/VO being the candidate UV/visible absorbers (111, 81) that are causing the inversions. In particular, observations of both WASP-33b and WASP-121b have indicated emission features of TiO (102, 196) and VO (76), respectively. While WASP-18b has not revealed any spectral signatures of TiO/VO, (6) suggested H<sup>-</sup> opacity as the putative cause. Another aspect of the ultra-hot Jupiters with inversions is that none of the spectra show evidence for strong H<sub>2</sub>O features but do show evidence for CO features. The under-abundant H<sub>2</sub>O is evident from the muted H<sub>2</sub>O feature in the HST WFC3 band at 1.4  $\mu$ m whereas the significant CO is evident from the excess emission in the Spitzer 4.5  $\mu$ m band. These ultra-hot Jupiters have now become the new testing ground for hypotheses on thermal inversions.

Two competing hypotheses have been put forth to explain the thermal inversions and the lack of strong H<sub>2</sub>O features from infrared spectra of ultra hot Jupiters. One possibility is a super-solar C/O ratio ( $\gtrsim$ 1) in these atmospheres which can cause low H<sub>2</sub>O abundance and high CO abundance (161, 188, 236). An alternate explanation is that thermal dissociation of H<sub>2</sub>O at these high temperatures is responsible for depleted H<sub>2</sub>O, while molecules such as CO and TiO are relatively more stable (6, 201, 154). The thermal dissociation is also accompanied by H<sup>-</sup> production. This hypothesis can be tested if H<sup>-</sup> can be retrieved from observed spectra. Currently, inferences of  $H^-$  (e.g., in WASP-18b) are based on grids of equilibrium models explored to match the data rather than retrieving statistical constraints on the  $H^-$  abundance from the data (6). Furthermore, another ultra-hot Jupiter, Kepler-13Ab, which is hotter than WASP-18b, shows a strong H<sub>2</sub>O feature in absorption indicating the presence of H<sub>2</sub>O and lack of thermal inversion. This latter anomaly has been explained as due to the high mass and gravity of Kepler-13Ab which enhance cold-trap processes removing inversion-causing species (20).

Beyond thermal inversions, temperature profiles also provide important constraints on other atmospheric processes. As discussed above, most of the planets observed to date show temperature profiles with no thermal inversions. For irradiated planets, this implies a lack of strong UV/visible absorbers in their atmospheres. On the other hand, for nonirradiated planets such as those observed with direct imaging, the P-T profiles are naturally expected to be devoid of thermal inversions due to the lack of incoming radiation. This is consistent with observed emergent spectra of directly-imaged planets all of which show only absorption features (14, 129, 160, 29) and the retrieved P-T profiles also show profiles with no inversions (143).

#### 4.4. Atmospheric Dynamics

New observations are leading to detailed constraints on atmospheric circulation patterns in hot Jupiters. Constraints on atmospheric dynamics have been obtained with a variety of observations, such as (1) thermal phase curves (286), (2) measurements of wind speeds (251), (3) eclipse mapping (61). While thermal phase curves in individual photometric bandpasses have been obtained for a large number of exoplanets, full phase resolved spectra have also been obtained (256, 134) allowing for detailed retrievals of composition and vertical temperature profiles as a function of orbital phase, as well as the brightness temperature maps as a function of pressure or depth in the atmosphere. The phase curves also provide constraints on day-night temperature contrasts and the location of the day-side hot spot with respect to the sub-stellar point. On the other hand, high-resolution spectroscopy of key species such as CO and Na are providing direct constraints on the wind speeds in the atmospheres of hot Jupiters (251, 155).

Observations of thermal phase curves of exoplanets are commonplace today. Phase curves have been observed with a number of facilities, including Spitzer, HST, and Kepler. Most of the observations have been conducted for hot Jupiters, however recently a thermal phase curve was reported for the transiting super-Earth 55 Cancri e (65). The ensemble of observations has provided two main insights into atmospheric dynamics and energy transport in irradiated exoplanets (e.g., 122). Firstly, observations generally confirm the trend of lower energy circulation efficiencies (i.e., increased day-night temperature contrasts) with increasing irradiation (i.e., equilibrium temperature). Secondly, and consequently, the majority of phase curves of hot Jupiters show the hot spot in the dayside atmosphere shifted downwind away from the sub-stellar point, as predicted by General Circulation Models.

High-resolution Doppler spectroscopy of hot Jupiters has led to measurements of wind velocities in their atmospheres consistent with predictions of GCMs. Such measurements were first reported for the hot Jupiter HD 209458b using CO absorption in the near-infrared, observed during transit (251), which showed limb-averaged wind speeds of  $2 \pm 1$  km/s. Similar measurements were made for the hot Jupiter HD 189733b using the Na absorption line observed in a high-resolution transmission spectrum in the optical (282) and initially



Figure 6: Atmospheric dynamics in hot Jupiters. Left: Theoretical predictions from a GCM of HD 189733b showing an eastward jet and shifting of the hot spot away from the substellar point (241). Wind vectors are shown with arrows and the coloured temperature scale is in Kelvin. Right: Reconstruction of thermal brightness map for the hot Jupiter HD 189733b using thermal phase curve observations in the Spitzer  $8\mu$ m IRAC band (125), conforming with the GCM simulations. Figure courtesy Adam Showman.



Figure 7: Atmospheric escape of the warm Neptune GJ 436b seen as a strong absorption signature of the stellar HI Lyman- $\alpha$  emission line, based on (71). The figure shows the Lyman- $\alpha$  transit light curve, where each data point is obtained by integrating the flux from the blue wing of the Lyman- $\alpha$  line as a function of time. The optical transit of GJ 436b is shown by the thin horizontal black line and the in-transit time by the vertical green region. Data are from (71) and (142). The blue curve is the model that best fits the spectra as a function of time, resulting from the particle simulation of (32), shown in the inset (where the system is drawn to scale and pole-on). Figure courtesy David Ehrenreich.

reported high wind speeds of  $8 \pm 2$  km/s. The wind speeds were subsequently revised by (155), by accounting for the Rossiter-McLaughlin effect, to be  $2.3^{+1.3}_{-1.5}$  km/s and  $5.3^{+1.0}_{-1.4}$  km/s eastward on the leading and trailing limbs of the planet, respectively, suggesting a strong equatorial jet. Such measurements are consistent with predictions from GCMs of

hot Jupiters such as HD 209458b and HD 189733b, which show strong eastward equatorial jets and wind velocities of  $\sim$ 1-3 km/s (239, 238, 287, 153). Observations such as these provide direct evidence for atmospheric dynamics in hot Jupiters, in addition to thermal phase curves discussed above.

#### 4.5. Atmospheric Escape

As discussed in section 4.1, transmission spectra of transiting exoplanets in the UV have led to strong detections of several atomic species since the early observations of (e.g., 272). In particular, detections of exospheric H using observations of Ly- $\alpha$  absorption in the UV have been reported for a number of giant exoplanets, some recent results include (33, 71). Such observations now only allow key insights into the chemical composition of an exosphere but also provide important constraints on hydrodynamic escape processes, the mass loss rates, and the morphology of the escaping cloud. An extensive discussion of this area can be found in the very recent review of (199) and will not be covered in much detail here. We will note, however, that two key directions are emerging in this area. First, it is becoming evident that highly irradiated Neptune-mass planets orbiting low-mass stars provide the best targets for investigating atmospheric escape processes, e.g., the cases of GJ 436b (71) and GJ 3470b (35). Figure 7 shows the example of GJ 436b. Second, the recent detections of He in the near infrared (253) has opened a new avenue to probe exoplanetary exospheres, both from space using HST as well as from ground (4). These various detections of atomic species have motivated a wide range of theoretical and observational efforts to study escape processes in exoplanets (199).

#### SUMMARY POINTS

- 1. The combination of state-of-the-art spectroscopic observations with atmospheric modeling and retrieval techniques has led to a wide range of constraints on atmospheric properties of giant exoplanets.
- 2. Chemical detections at high confidence include atomic species (H, He, Na, K, Ti, Fe, C, O, Mg) and molecular species (H<sub>2</sub>O, CO, HCN, TiO, VO, AlO, CH<sub>4</sub>).
- 3. Reliable abundance constraints are available primarily for  $H_2O$  in transiting giant exoplanets. Transmission spectra of most hot Jupiters observed in the visible and near-infrared reveal sub-solar  $H_2O$  abundances.
- 4. Clouds/hazes have been inferred in a number of giant exoplanets, primarily from subdued spectral features and non-Rayleigh slopes in optical transmission spectra.
- 5. Thermal emission spectra provide key constraints on temperature profiles of giant exoplanets. Thermal inversions have been detected robustly in three ultra-hot Jupiters, with the remaining planets showing no thermal inversions or isothermal profiles.
- 6. Atmospheric circulation patterns have been constrained using thermal phase curves, phase resolved spectra, measurements of wind speeds and/or eclipse mapping.
- 7. Atmospheric escape has been observed in several giant exoplanets with hot Neptunes emerging as optimal candidates for detecing exospheres.
- 8. Overall, atmospheric characterisation is a revolutionary development in the exoplanetary field that only promises to grow as theoretical and observational developments continue.

#### 5. Implications for Planetary Formation

Chemical compositions of planetary atmospheres can provide important insights into their formation and evolutionary mechanisms. As chemical abundances are being measured for exoplanetary atmospheres, an increasing number of studies have been investigating the possibility of using such abundances to answer various open questions about exoplanetary formation. Such studies have mostly focused on giant exoplanets for two main reasons. Firstly, accurate abundance estimates are still only feasibly for giant exoplanets given their higher S/N spetra. Secondly, the  $H_2$ /He dominated primary atmospheres of giant exoplanets estimates are still only feasibly for giant exoplanets.

#### 5.1. The Basic Picture

The ultimate goal of this area is to constrain the primordial formation pathways of exoplanets using their present-day observable chemical abundances. Planetary formation involves a large number of highly complex and stochastic processes. At the outset, therefore, it is imperative to establish which particular aspects of planetary formation can be constrained by atmospheric abundances. The basic set-up of the problem is as follows. The primary assumption is that the initial elemental composition of the protoplanetary disk in which a planet formed is the same as that of the host star, since both are expected to have collapsed from the same protostellar cloud. After the initial collapse, the disk cools in time during which the thermodynamic properties of the disk midplane evolve accordingly. As the disk cools, the snowlines of the various volatile species move inwards towards to the star. As a result, the chemical compositions of both the gas and solids in the disk evolve as a function of time and location in the disk. For example, H<sub>2</sub>O remains in solids outside the H<sub>2</sub>O snow line whereas inwards of the snow line it contributes to the gas composition. The same happens with all the prominent volatile species such as CO<sub>2</sub>, CO, N<sub>2</sub> and CH<sub>4</sub>, which strongly affect the elemental abundance ratios of key elements (e.g., O, C, N) in the disk mid-plane.

Therefore, the chemical composition of a planet depends on the location and time of its formation in the disk as well as the relative amounts of gas and solids it accretes during its formation. Since the planet may migrate through the disk during formation, the net composition is governed by the cumulative accretion history of the planet over its migration pathway. Beyond this basic picture, there are various other complications. For example, the disk itself can have structural inhomogeneities in the form of gaps and overdensities. The solids may be present in a wide distribution of sizes, from micron-sized dust grains to large planetesimals. The disk composition can be affected by various thermal and photochemical processes. Moreover, all these processes happen simultaneously, i.e., the planet forms and grows by accreting while migrating in an evolving disk. At the end of this process, all the material accreted by the planet is reprocessed in the planet post formation, finally resulting in the chemical composition observed in its atmosphere today.

Therefore, the goal of constraining planetary formation processes from atmospheric compositions is a daunting ambition. It is unrealistic to expect for all the involved processes to be constrained solely based on end products. A more reasonable approach is to explore this landscape to assess if any broad regions of the phase space can be constrained or ruled out and to present testable hypotheses given possible atmospheric observations. It is with this spirit that various studies have embarked on this formidable journey.

#### 5.2. Compositions of Accreted Material

The composition of a planet depends on the composition of the material it accretes from the disk both in gas and solid phase. While the gas phase of the disk is mostly composed of H and He with trace quantities of heavy elements, the opposite is true for solids. Therefore, a relatively smaller mass of solids accreted compared to gas can make a disproportionately large contribution to the metallicity of the planet. For example, all the heavy elements in a given amount of solar composition gas amount to only  $\sim 1\%$  by mass. Therefore, the relative amounts of gas to solids accreted by a planet determines the heavy metal content of the atmosphere. On the other hand, the compositions of the gas and dust both evolve in time and orbital distance in the protoplanetary disk (73). While various factors govern the evolution of different disk properties, the most relevant property influencing the composition in the disk mid-plane is temperature which is cooler at larger distances and later times. The mid-plane temperature governs the locations of the snow lines of prominent chemical species which in turn govern whether a particular species is in gas phase or solid phase at a given location.

Several studies have investigated the compositions of gas and solids that could be accreted by giant planetary atmospheres. The simplest picture is one of a steady state disk where the mid-plane compositions of the gas and solids are determined solely based on the location in the disk relative to the relevant snow lines. Initial studies considered fixed composition disks where the abundances of prominent species (e.g.  $H_2O$ , CO,  $CO_2$ ) were adopted based on observations of protoplanetary environments and the interstellar medium, or on theoretical models (197, 190, 164). With the abundances fixed, the disk temperature at a given orbital distance governs whether each of these species is in gas phase or in solid phase. The sublimation temperatures of these species are such that the  $H_2O$  snow line is closest to the star (nominally around 5 AU) followed by snow lines of  $CO_2$ , CO, and other gases such as  $CH_4$ ,  $N_2$ , and noble gases, in that order. For example, between the  $H_2O$ and  $CO_2$  snow lines,  $H_2O$  is in solid ice phase whereas all the other volatiles are in gas phase. Therefore, how much gas versus ice is accreted onto the planet at a given location decides how much of each species is accreted onto the planet. The sum-total of all the accreted species contributes to the net elemental abundances of oxygen, carbon, nitrogen, etc. Already from this simple picture it is clear that the oxygen abundance in the gas decreases outward in the disk, with a decrement at each snow line, whereas that in the solids increases. This implies that the C/O ratio in the gas increases whereas that in the solids decreases as a function of distance in the disk (197). Figure 8 shows the variation of the C/O ratio in the gas and solids in the disk midplane. Therefore, depending on how much gas versus solids a planet accretes at a given formation location it can accrete a wide range of C/O ratios, spanning sub-solar or super-solar C/O ratios; the solar C/O ratio is 0.54 (7). Beyond the simple picture above, a host of other processes can influence the gas and solid composition in the disk midplane over time (73).

#### 5.3. End-to-end Studies

In recent years various studies have explored the effects of different formation pathways on the final compositions of giant exoplanets. Detailed reviews on the evolution of this area until recently can be found in (163, 210, 140). Figure 9 shows the carbon-oxygen plane with predictions from models assuming different formation pathways.

Here, after briefly summarising initial works, we focus on the latest developments and

the future landscape of this area. The first studies in this direction in the context of giant exoplanets were motivated by the possibilities of measuring elemental abundances and C/O ratios in their atmospheres. Traditionally, solar-system based formation models were used to explain such elemental abundance ratios in giant exoplanets. These argued for local inhomogeneities in formation conditions to explain non-solar abundances (191, 169). However, (197) noted that even in a solar-composition disk, with a C/O ratio of 0.54 (7), the C/O ratio of gas and solids in the disk mid-plane changed as a function of radial distance relative to the snow lines of prominent species such as  $H_2O$ , CO, and  $CO_2$ . They argued that beyond the  $CO_2$  snow line, the gas composition is dominated by CO, giving it a C/Oratio of 1, such that giant planets forming in such regions with predominant gas accretion can have C/O ratios of 1. This study was followed by (164) who showed that a wide range of C/O ratios and metallicities are possible in giant exoplanets depending on their formation and migration pathways relative to the snowlines. In particular, high C/O ratios (~1) and sub-stellar metallicities in giant exoplanets were shown to be possible only via mechanisms that did not involve significant solid accretion into the envelope, e.g., disk-free migration or through pebble accretion without core erosion (165). Meanwhile, a wide range of C/O ratios and super-solar metallicities were possible for disk migration through abundant accretion of planetesimals (164, 184).

The early studies have been followed by various end-to-end studies which investigated the effects of a wide range of formation conditions on atmospheric compositions of giant exoplanets (184, 165, 56, 1, 31, 3). These studies have focused largely on hot Jupiters, which are most amenable to atmospheric abundance measurements. These models attempt to accurately capture the formation of the planet, via different mechanisms, while accounting for the chemical inventory of the accreted material. The important differences between the models are in the treatment of the disk chemistry, the specific accretion efficiency of solids versus gas, and in the nature of the accreted material. For example, (184) reported an integrated chain model which comprises the formation of the planet by core accretion, migration through the disk, and chemical enrichment caused by planetesimal accretion. They explore two formation pathways, depending on the formation location of the planet relative to the  $H_2O$  snow line. In this model, the atmospheric elemental composition of the planet is dominated by planetesimal accretion and, regardless of the two formation locations, the composition is predominantly oxygen-rich; owing to significant accretion of  $H_2O$  ice. On another front, (56) reported models where the chemistry is treated with an astrochemical model coupled with a disk evolution model. The planet formation is governed by core accretion with gas and planetesimal accretion and formed in specific regions ('traps') in the disk. They also find planets with oxygen-rich C/O ratios of 0.23, owing to an assumed lower C/O ratio in the disc and the assumption of no planetesimal accretion. (269) also found giant planets with high water abundances, but did not compute C/O ratios. Overall, across these various studies, planets formed via core accretion involving significant planetesimal accretion and migration through the disk result in oxygen-rich composition of the planetary envelopes (164, 184, 56).

More recent studies have investigated alternate mechanisms that can influence the heavy element content in giant exoplanetary atmospheres. One new direction explored in this context is the formation of giant planets via pebble accretion and migration through the evolving disk with a given chemical prescription (165). The important aspect of this formation mechanism (139) is that the solid accretion occurs predominantly during the formation of the core until the pebble isolation mass is reached, following which gas accretion dominates



Figure 8: Top:Variation of the C/O ratio of the gas and solids in a disc due to freeze-out. The CO, CO<sub>2</sub> and H<sub>2</sub>O snow lines are shown. The width of the snow lines is set by the balance of adsorbtion vs thermal desorption (31). The dotted line shows a typical case where pebble drift has enhanced the C/O inner the inner region (2, 31). Conversely, the conversion of CO to CO<sub>2</sub> and complex organic molecules reduces the C/O ratio of the gas and increases the C/O ratio of the ices (e.g. (72, 73)). Bottom: Abundance of carbon and oxygen relative to solar in solid and gas phases.

with almost no solid accretion. In this scenario, the envelope composition is dominated by the gas composition, which is typically metal poor and the accreted solids are sequestered in the core. This leads to generally sub-stellar metallicities and the C/O ratio of the envelope depends on the location of accreted gas relative to the snow lines. In principle, super-stellar metallicities and low C/O ratios can also be attained if the cores are allowed to erode and contribute to the envelope composition (1, 165). Beyond this picture, however, further studies have considered the effect of pebble drift on the composition of gas in



Figure 9: Carbon and oxygen abundances arising from different core accretion models of giant planet formation. The circles denote planets formed by pebble accretion, taking into account the chemical evolution driven by pebble migration (31). Models based on the planetesimal accretion scenario taking into account migration are shown as plus signs (164). The point colours denote the chemical abundance models used from (164): the case 1 and 2 equilibrium models are shown in blue and orange, and the case 2 no-reactions model in green. The purple stars show the models of Jupiter mass planets from (184), while the models of (57) are given by the red star.

the disk (207, 31). Inward drifting pebbles sublimate at each snow line crossing, thereby enriching the metallicity of the gas inward of the snow line. A planet formed by accreting such metal-rich gas can naturally possess both high metallicities and a wide range of C/O ratios depending on the specific formation pathway. Overall, the pebble accretion paradigm provides a natural way to explain a wide range of metallicities as well as C/O ratios in giant exoplanetary atmospheres. A new generation of studies are now beginning to investigate the effect of complex disk chemistry on the compositions of the planets formed via different mechanisms. In previous studies, the treatment of chemistry in the disk was simplistic based on fixed condensation fronts depending on the mid plane temperature (197, 164). New studies considering full chemical kinetics along with the evolving disk show significant evolution in the gas and ice compositions (e.g. C/O ratios) of the disk mid-plane beyond what fixed chemical prescriptions assume (73). Future end-to-end models including such full chemical treatment may find a wider diversity of planetary compositions than currently predicted. A recent study with an end-to-end model combined a full chemical model with a hydrodynamical model of planet formation by gravitational instability (113). They suggested the possibility of dust grains, along with their volatiles, sedimenting to the cores and preventing the enrichment of their envelopes with the volatiles. Therefore, planetary envelopes formed via gravitational instability may not entirely reflect the bulk composition of the formation locations. Finally, new studies are also suggesting that besides the carbon and oxygen abundances, the nitrogen abundance may also be an important diagnostic of planetary formation pathways (208, 30).

#### SUMMARY POINTS

- 1. The key goal is to use elemental abudances in exoplanetary atmospheres to constraint their formation and migration history. Basic premise: elemental composition of protoplanetary disk same as the protostellar nebula.
- 2. Composition of the disk (e.g. C/H, O/H, C/O ratios) in gas and solids change as a function of orbital distance and age, with snow lines of H<sub>2</sub>O, CO, and CO<sub>2</sub> governing key transitions in elemental abundances. Further in the disk beyond the CO<sub>2</sub> snowline the C/O ratio in the gas approaches 1.
- 3. Giant planet composition depends on the relative amounts of gas vs solids accreted by the planet from different locations in the disk relative to the snow lines.
- 4. Giant planet formation via core accretion with significant planetesimal accretion and migration through the disk leads to super-solar metallicities and sub-solar (oxygenrich) C/O ratios, i.e., C/O  $\leq 0.5$ .
- 5. Giant planet formation beyond the  $CO/CO_2$  snow lines but with disk-free migration can lead to sub-solar metallicities and carbon-rich compositions with C/O approaching 1.
- 6. Giant planet formation by pebble accretion can lead to a diverse range of metallicities and C/O ratios depending on the efficiency of core erosion as well the contribution of pebble drift to the disk composition.

#### 6. Habitable Planets and Biosignatures

The detection of a biosignature in the atmosphere of a terrestrial-size planet represents the holy grail of exoplanetary science. The current population of discovered transiting exoplanets contain dozens of rocky exoplanets in their habitable zones (138). It is conceivable that a chemical signature in the atmosphere of a habitable exoplanet may be discovered within the next decade with large facilities in space (e.g. JWST) and ground (e.g. E-ELT). However, whether or not the detected chemical will be a robust signature of life is a subject of much debate (179, 49). Nevertheless, the prospects of finding a potential biosignature in

the atmosphere of a terrestrial exoplanet are promising given the rapid increase in new discoveries of such planets and the new observational facilities on the horizon. Recent reviews of various aspects of this area can be found in (179, 49, 87, 228, 163)

### 6.1. Habitable Planets

One of the most revolutionary findings from exoplanet detection surveys has been the high occurance rate of rocky exoplanets in the solar neighbourhood (88). Earth-size planets are now known to be very common, and more so around low-mass stars. In particular, dozens of terrestrial-size exoplanets are known with equilibrium temperatures conducive for liquid water to exist on the surface. In principle, these planets may be be classed as habitable-zone planets, though the extent of a habitable zone is subject to the planetary interior and atmospheric properties as well as the astrophysical conditions assumed. A detailed review of the various factors affecting habitability of terrestrial exoplanets can be found in various recent works (97, 228, 130, 95, 119, 235, 99). These factors include the atmospheric and geophysical conditions in the planet, its orbital parameters and evolution, the nature and evolution of the host star and its environment, magnetospheric protection, and the planet's formation history, among other factors. The dozens of potentially habitable planets now known are found orbiting mostly late-type K and M stars, meaning their environmental conditions may be expected to be very different and diverse compared to the terrestrial experience. An exact Earth analog is yet to be discovered. From an observational standpoint, however, planets orbiting late-type stars provide a fortuitous opportunity to characterise their atmospheres. Their small stellar sizes provide large planet-star contrasts, both in radius and flux, making them conducive for transit spectroscopy. This 'small star opportunity' has emerged to be the cornerstone in the search for habitable planets and biosignatures in the near future. In particular, the recent discoveries of habitable-zone planets orbiting nearby stars such as TRAPPIST-1 (92) and Proxima Cen (5) provide new impetus in this direction. As discussed below, discovering biosignatures in the atmospheres of such planets may be within the reach of upcoming observational facilities.

#### 6.2. Biosignatures

The ultimate breakthrough in exoplanetary science will be the detection of a biosignature in the atmosphere of a rocky habitable-zone exoplanet. But, what is a biosignature? Nominally, an ideal biosignature gas would need to satisfy some natural conditions (230), such as (a) it should not have any false positives, i.e., should not be a product of non-biological mechanisms, (b) it should have strong enough spectral features to be detectable, and (c) it should be abundant enough to be detectable. Traditionally, the prominent biosignatures based on the Earth's atmosphere were thought to be  $O_2$ ,  $O_3$ ,  $N_2O$ , and  $CH_4$ ; though  $CH_4$ is known to be produced in minor quantities geologically (49). By far, the most promising biosignature for Earth-like planets had originally been considered to be  $O_2$  and, hence, O<sub>3</sub>. However, recent studies suggest the possibility of abiotic mechanisms which can also produce  $O_2$  in detectable quantities (179). It may be safe to say that currently there is no single molecule that may qualify as a unique biosignature upon detection in extraterrestrial atmospheres. Nevertheless, recent studies are suggesting several approaches for progress in this direction. Firstly, any assessment of a biosignature has to take into account various aspects of the environment that are required for the planet to be conducive to life (49). These include characterisation of the stellar host and bulk properties of the planet as well as the atmospheric 'climatic' conditions. Ultimately, a probabilistic measure of life may be more plausible than a binary inference (49). Furthermore, while there is no single ideal molecule, the combination of multiple species (e.g.  $O_2$  and  $CH_4$ ) may be a potential biosignature under the given conditions. In this regard, a detection of  $O_2$  and  $CH_4$  and/or  $N_2O$  along with liquid  $H_2O$  on a habitable-zone planet, i.e. an almost exact Earth analogue, may be a sure sign of life.

While designing metrics centered on terrestrial experience may be a convenient starting point, it will likely serve us better to be open to surprises. As is common experience in exoplanetary science, reality has rarely conformed to our expectations. From planetary detections to atmospheric studies, most of the findings to date have defied expectations. Initial studies show that the possible space of biochemical byproducts may comprise of numerous chemical species (226, 228), and may indeed be non-denumerably infinite. For example, species such as O2, O3, N<sub>2</sub>O, CH<sub>4</sub>, CO<sub>2</sub>, CH<sub>3</sub>SH, CH<sub>3</sub>Cl, C<sub>2</sub>H<sub>6</sub> and NH<sub>3</sub>, may all be potential bio-signatures in Earth-like conditions (226, 228). In addition, different stellar environments may reduce or increase the chances of potential biosignatures. For example, while planets around M dwarfs may be subject to an extremely harsh UV environment which can be catastrophic for terrestrial-like life (234, 119), the same environments may also be conducive for abiogenesis, producing species essential for primordial life such as HCN (216, 217).

#### 6.3. Observational Prospects

A prudent approach to searching for biosignatures in terrestrial exoplanets is likely to be one that is driven by observational capability rather than terracentric predictions of an ideal biosignature. Several recent studies have discussed the observational capabilities of upcoming facilities that would be sensitive to detecting chemical signatures in rocky exoplanets (119, 229, 226, 87). Atmospheric characterisation of Earth-like planets around sun-like stars may be beyond the capabilities of current and upcoming facilities. However, a more promising pathway that has emerged in recent years is the atmospheric characterisation of planets orbiting low-mass stars such as TRAPPIST-1 (92) and Proxima Centauri (5). Recent studies show that dedicated spectroscopic observations with JWST could take us within the reach of detecting chemical signatures for habitable planets in both TRAPPIST-1 (185, 17) and Proxima Cen b (252). Furthermore, these atmospheres may also be probed by large ground-based facilities (e.g. E-ELT) using a combination of high-resolution spectroscopy and high-contrast imaging (248, 220). New studies are underway for a future generation of facilities such as LUVOIR (28) and HabEx (181) that would enable characterisation of potential biospheres of Earth-like planets around sun-like stars (280).

## SUMMARY POINTS

- 1. The detection of an atmospheric biosignature in a rocky exoplanet represents the holy grail of the field.
- 2. Defining a unique biosignature remains a theoretical challenge, but several candidate molecules have been suggested.
- 3. Detection of a potential biosignature may be within the reach of upcoming observational facilities.

## 7. Future Landscape

It is clear that the future of exoplanetary science lies in detailed characterisation of exoplanetary atmospheres. Numerous surveys both from space and on the ground are geared towards discovering planets orbiting nearby bright stars which enable detailed atmospheric spectroscopy of the planets. Current and upcoming transit surveys include K2, TESS, and CHEOPS from space and ground-based surveys such as SuperWASP, NGTS, KELT, SPECULOOS, and MEARTH, followed by the PLATO mission on a longer term. In parallel, direct-imaging surveys with instruments such as GPI, SPHERE, and SCExAO aim to discover long-period exoplanets around young nearby stars. These surveys promise a large sample of targets for detailed comparative characterisation of exoplanetary atmospheres over the next decade. On the other hand, the prospects of various new observational facilities for atmospheric spectroscopy of exoplanets are equally exciting. In the imminent future, JWST will play a pivotal role in revolutionising the field. In the late 2020s space-based facilities such as ARIEL will enable atmospheric characterisation of large populations of exoplanets, and large ground-based telescopes such as E-ELT, GMT, and TMT, may enable detections of biosignatures in atmospheres of habitable-zone exoplanets. Here we discuss the future landscape of the field, focusing specifically on observational facilities at present and in the imminent future.

#### 7.1. Exoplanetary Atmospheres with Current Facilities

As discussed in this work, current facilities are already capable of providing detailed insights into exoplanetary atmospheres. What can we expect from these facilities in the future? HST, which has been the workhorse of the field in recent years, will continue to be a powerful facility. Prior to JWST, which is currently expected to launch in 2021, HST is the only space-based facility for transit spectroscopy over a broad spectral range, from UV to near-IR. As discussed above, spectra over the broad spectral range from visible to NIR have been obtained with HST for over ten giant exoplanets, albeit with variable data quality. Similarly, spectra are becoming available for tens more transiting exoplanets obtained with one or more HST instruments albeit with generally limited data quality. These kinds of survey programs are beneficial to provide a general census of exoplanetary spectra over a large sample (244, 266, 86), but are of limited utility for obtaining stringent constraints on relevant atmospheric properties of any individual planet. As discussed in (162), H<sub>2</sub>O abundances have been measured to better than 0.5 dex precisions in only a handful of exoplanets. Retrievals of high-precision chemical abundances and other atmospheric properties from transit spectra require uncertainties on data that are nearly 20 ppm (63, 166, 132, 157). While such precisions can be obtained in single transit/eclipse observations for planets orbiting bright host stars such as HD 209458b (63), fainter host stars require coadding spectra from multiple events, as demonstrated for WASP-43b (256, 132). This is the approach required with HST, i.e., dedicated efforts for high-precision (20 ppm) transit spectroscopy over the entire HST spectral range of a sizeable sample of exoplanets. Such a program has the potential to obtained high precision chemical abundances of  $H_2O$ , and other possible species (e.g.  $CH_4$ , HCN, NH<sub>3</sub>, TiO/VO, Na, K), P-T profiles, constraints on clouds/hazes for a large sample of exoplanets to enable comparative atmospheric characterisation.

At the same time, as discussed earlier, ground-based facilities have started to provide high-precision spectra for both close-in planets as well as directly imaged planets on large orbital separations, as shown in Fig. 4. In particular, ground-based transit spectroscopy at both low-resolution and high-resolution will continue to provide robust detections of several chemical species such as Na, K, TiO, and He (e.g., 232, 193). Such detections can be made using instruments on existing large ground-based telescopes (e.g. VLT and GTC) as well as high-resolution spectrographs on medium-size telescopes such as the HARPS spectrograph (106). In addition, high resolution Doppler spectroscopy in thermal emission with large ground-based telescopes promise high confidence detections of chemical species. As discussed earlier, this technique has been instrumental in strong detections of key species such as H<sub>2</sub>O, CO, TiO, and HCN in several hot Jupiters using the CRIRES instrument on the VLT. The upcoming CRIRES+ spectrograph on VLT along with other high-resolution spectrographs on medium-size (4m class) telescopes promise new opportunities for the future (41). Ultimately, the combination of high-resolution Doppler spectroscopy along with lowresolution transit spectroscopy will provide the best constraints possible. Similarly, the combination of the cross-correlation technique with high-contrast imaging provides new promise for medium-high resolution spectroscopy at extreme flux contrasts(248, 106). These advancements will naturally be further enhanced with the next generation of large groundbased facilities such as the E-ELT, GMT, and TMT.

#### 7.2. Exoplanetary Atmospheres with JWST

The James Webb Space Telescope (JWST) has the potential to revolutionise the study of exoplanetary atmospheres. The key advantages of JWST for exoplanet spectroscopy are apparent - its large aperture, and hence high sensitivity, and wide spectral range, particularly in the infrared. Several studies have investigated the science that can be pursued with JWST (94, 62, 18). Here, we discuss some key highlights and some strategic factors that need to be considered to maximise the potential of JWST for atmospheric characterisation of exoplanets.

JWST will clearly revolutionise our understanding of giant planets which will be the most conducive planets for atmospheric characterisation as already demonstrated with current facilities. This is most apparent when considering that the range of species that JWST will be able to observe in hot Jupiters may supersede what we know for Jupiter in our own solar system, which is currently the most studied giant planet. The wide spectral range of JWST spans the absorption features of a range of chemical species, as shown in Fig. 10. All the prominent molecular species containing the key volatile elements (e.g. O, C, and N) such as  $H_2O$ , CO,  $CH_4$ ,  $CO_2$ , HCN,  $C_2H_2$ , and  $NH_3$ , have strong spectral features in the JWST spectral range. The mixing ratios of these species can provide unprecedented constraints on the corresponding elemental abundance ratios, e.g., C/H, O/H, N/H, C/O, N/O, etc. These molecular and elemental ratios have the potential to provide a wide range of constraints on numerous atmospheric processes and planetary formation mechanisms, as discussed in this work. Moreover, the spectral range of JWST, as seen in Fig. 10, also contains strong signatures of various molecules containing refractory elements (e.g. TiO, VO, AlO, TiH, etc) which provide important constraints on both the metal content in the atmospheres as well as the possibility of aerosols comprised of these species, depending on the temperatures. Most of these species are not measurable for giant planets in the solar system due to their low temperatures. On the other hand, JWST will be able to measure these for planets over a wide mass range, possibly from super-Earths to super-Jupiters.

While JWST will readily detect various chemical species in exoplanetary atmospheres, precise quantitative constraints on the atmospheric properties will require judicious plan-



Figure 10: Cross-sections of various molecules across optical and infrared wavelengths. Spectral ranges covered by certain modes of JWST's four instruments (NIRSpec, NIRISS, NIRCam, and MIRI) are shown for comparison. For NIRSpec, the wavelength coverage of individual filters is also shown. JWST's extensive spectral coverage will enable detailed chemical characterisations of exoplanetary atmospheres.

ning. The atmospheric properties including the chemical abundances, temperature profiles, and other properties, are determined from spectra using atmospheric retrieval methods. It is conceivable that chemical abundances and ratios (e.g.  $H_2O$ , C/O ratio, etc) can be determined to precisions within  $0.5 \, \text{dex} (94, 17)$ , more so considering that retrievals on HST spectra are already providing best precisions on  $H_2O$  abundances of  $\sim 0.5 \text{ dex}$  (166, 157, 277). However, the precision of the determined chemical abundances, depends both on the spectral range as well as the precision, while ensuring that the desired chemical species has strong signature in the observed range. Firstly, as shown in Fig. 11, the spectral ranges of the near-infrared instruments (NIRISS and NIRSPEC) are composed of multiple modes each of which covers a narrow range, typically 1-2  $\mu m$  wide, and can be observed only one at a time. Consequently, obtaining the full spectral range of JWST would require a significant investment of JWST time on any one target. Therefore, judicious choices need to be made in choosing the observing modes which depend on a range of system properties including the stellar brightness, planetary bulk properties (e.g. size, gravity, temperature), expected atmospheric composition and spectral amplitude. Various studies have investigated the information content in JWST spectra as a function of these properties (e.g., 94, 17, 183, 218) using simulated JWST data. For example, (17) show that for a given amount of observing time with JWST NIRISS and NIRSpec the information content in an observed spectrum of a certain molecule in multiple modes is higher than that observed in a single mode at high precision. On the other hand, for certain host stars a broader coverage over 1-5  $\mu$ m range can be achieved with the NIRSpec in GRISM mode. In principle, the MIRI instrument has significant larger spectral range in each of two models in the 5-28  $\mu$ m but have lower



resolution and fewer relevant spectral features compared to the near-infrared.

Figure 11: Simulated JWST/NIRSpec data based on the model spectrum of a planet resembling HD 209458b . Simulated data is shown by dark red points, while the model spectrum is shown in pink. Data is simulated for the G140H, G235H and G395H high-resolution grisms available with NIRSpec. The native-resolution simulated data points have been binned to a lower resolution for clarity. In the inset, real HST/WFC3 data for HD 209458b (blue points and error bars) is shown for reference. The chemical features probed in this spectral range are labelled with brackets; atmospheric observations with JWST will allow higher resolutions and smaller uncertainties than present capabilities, resulting in more robust and varied chemical detections.

Another challenge for transit spectroscopy with JWST lies in the possibility of cloudy atmospheres. As discussed in this work, transmission spectra have suggested the presence of clouds/hazes in transiting exoplanets over a range of temperatures and masses, revealed through low-amplitude  $H_2O$  features as well as non-Rayleigh spectral slopes in the optical (244, 86, 266). Current retrieval codes are able to retrieve the chemical abundances from such spectra in addition to constraining the cloud/haze properties (16, 157). However, such joint constraints require transmission spectra in visible wavelengths to resolve the degeneracies between the chemical abundances and clouds/hazes. While this has been possible with HST, using the STIS spectrograph, the same will be lacking for JWST which does not have significant spectral coverage in the optical. Therefore, complementary transmission spectra in the visible observed with HST and/or large ground-based telescopes will be

required to accurately retrieve chemical compositions of cloudy atmospheres using JWST transmission spectra. The recent successes of HST and high-precision ground-based transmission spectroscopy of giant exoplanets (232, 193, 53) provide promising prospects in this direction. On the other hand, for many of the irradiated giant exoplanets dayside thermal emission spectra may provide a more viable means to constrain their atmospheric compositions, rather than transmission spectra. The dayside spectra are less influenced by clouds owing to the higher irradiation/temperatures as well as the fact that an opaque cloud deck essentially acts as a photosphere and the compositions constrained are those above the cloud deck by default. Moreover, infrared spectra of several hot Jupiters with HST and Spitzer, as well as with high-resolution ground-based spectra have already revealed clear signatures of molecular features and temperature gradients suggesting the lack of strong interference due to clouds/hazes on the dayside spectra. Besides chemical compositions, JWST will provide unprecedented constraints on a host of other atmospheric properties of exoplanets. In addition, JWST will provide the first opportunity to characterise the atmospheres of super-Earths and terrestrial-size exoplanets in detail, especially for planets orbiting low-mass stars (252).

## DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

The authors are not aware of any affiliations, memberships, funding, or financial holdings that might be perceived as affecting the objectivity of this review.

### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

At the outset I would like to thank the countless colleagues in the field who have contributed to this exciting frontier of exoplanetary science. I would like to thank the editors at ARAA for the opportunity to serve the field with this review, and Debra Fischer for her very helpful comments on the review. The volume of literature on this emerging area of exoplanetary atmospheres is both exciting and astounding at the same time, a testament to the exponential progress we are witnessing. As such, given the space and time available for this review, choices had to be made about which aspects to cover at what level. I therefore sincerely apologize to all those colleagues whose work may not have received coverage in this review. I would like to deeply thank my students Luis Welbanks and Anjali Piette for their invaluable contributions to the figures, tables, and sorting the references in this review, Arazi Pinhas for help with the tables, some figures and references, Richard Booth for help with Figs. 8 & 9, and Siddharth Gandhi for help with some of the references. I would also like to thank Adam Showman and David Ehrenreich for their very helpful comments and contributions to sections 4.4 and 4.5, respectively.

## LITERATURE CITED

- M. Ali-Dib. Disentangling hot Jupiters formation location from their chemical composition. MNRAS, 467:2845–2854, May 2017.
- 2. Mohamad Ali-Dib, Olivier Mousis, Jean-Marc Petit, and Jonathan I. Lunine. Carbon-rich Planet Formation in a Solar Composition Disk. *ApJ*, 785:125, April 2014.
- Y. Alibert. Maximum mass of planetary embryos that formed in core-accretion models. A&A, 606:A69, October 2017.

www.annualreviews.org • Exoplanetary Atmospheres 41

- R. Allart, V. Bourrier, C. Lovis, D. Ehrenreich, J. J. Spake, A. Wyttenbach, L. Pino, F. Pepe, D. K. Sing, and A. Lecavelier des Etangs. Spectrally resolved helium absorption from the extended atmosphere of a warm Neptune-mass exoplanet. *Science*, 362:1384–1387, December 2018.
- 5. G. Anglada-Escudé, P. J. Amado, J. Barnes, Z. M. Berdiñas, R. P. Butler, G. A. L. Coleman, I. de La Cueva, S. Dreizler, M. Endl, B. Giesers, S. V. Jeffers, J. S. Jenkins, H. R. A. Jones, M. Kiraga, M. Kürster, M. J. López-González, C. J. Marvin, N. Morales, J. Morin, R. P. Nelson, J. L. Ortiz, A. Ofir, S.-J. Paardekooper, A. Reiners, E. Rodríguez, C. Rodríguez-López, L. F. Sarmiento, J. P. Strachan, Y. Tsapras, M. Tuomi, and M. Zechmeister. A terrestrial planet candidate in a temperate orbit around Proxima Centauri. *Nature*, 536:437–440, August 2016.
- J. Arcangeli, J.-M. Désert, M. R. Line, J. L. Bean, V. Parmentier, K. B. Stevenson, L. Kreidberg, J. J. Fortney, M. Mansfield, and A. P. Showman. H<sup>-</sup> Opacity and Water Dissociation in the Dayside Atmosphere of the Very Hot Gas Giant WASP-18b. *ApJ*, 855:L30, March 2018.
- M. Asplund, N. Grevesse, A. J. Sauval, and P. Scott. The Chemical Composition of the Sun. ARA&A, 47:481–522, September 2009.
- N. Astudillo-Defru and P. Rojo. Ground-based detection of calcium and possibly scandium and hydrogen in the atmosphere of HD 209458b. A&A, 557:A56, September 2013.
- S. K. Atreya, A. Crida, T. Guillot, J. I. Lunine, N. Madhusudhan, and O. Mousis. The Origin and Evolution of Saturn, with Exoplanet Perspective. ArXiv e-prints, June 2016.
- R. J. Barber, J. Tennyson, G. J. Harris, and R. N. Tolchenov. A high-accuracy computed water line list. MNRAS, 368:1087–1094, May 2006.
- R. J. Barber, J. K. Strange, C. Hill, O. L. Polyansky, G. C. Mellau, S. N. Yurchenko, and J. Tennyson. ExoMol line lists - III. An improved hot rotation-vibration line list for HCN and HNC. MNRAS, 437:1828–1835, January 2014.
- T. Barman. Identification of Absorption Features in an Extrasolar Planet Atmosphere. ApJ, 661:L191–L194, June 2007.
- 13. T. S. Barman, F. Allard, I. Baraffe, G. Chabrier, and P. H. Hauschildt. Extrasolar planets: atmospheres, spectra, and evolution. In F. Favata, G. A. J. Hussain, and B. Battrick, editors, 13th Cambridge Workshop on Cool Stars, Stellar Systems and the Sun, volume 560 of ESA Special Publication, page 437, March 2005.
- T. S. Barman, Q. M. Konopacky, B. Macintosh, and C. Marois. Simultaneous Detection of Water, Methane, and Carbon Monoxide in the Atmosphere of Exoplanet HR8799b. *ApJ*, 804:61, May 2015.
- T. S. Barman, B. Macintosh, Q. M. Konopacky, and C. Marois. Clouds and Chemistry in the Atmosphere of Extrasolar Planet HR8799b. ApJ, 733:65, May 2011.
- J. K. Barstow, S. Aigrain, P. G. J. Irwin, and D. K. Sing. A Consistent Retrieval Analysis of 10 Hot Jupiters Observed in Transmission. ApJ, 834:50, January 2017.
- N. E. Batalha, N. K. Lewis, M. R. Line, J. Valenti, and K. Stevenson. Strategies for Constraining the Atmospheres of Temperate Terrestrial Planets with JWST. *ApJ*, 856:L34, April 2018.
- J. L. Bean, K. B. Stevenson, N. M. Batalha, Z. Berta-Thompson, L. Kreidberg, N. Crouzet, B. Benneke, M. R. Line, D. K. Sing, H. R. Wakeford, H. A. Knutson, E. M.-R. Kempton, J.-M. Désert, I. Crossfield, N. E. Batalha, J. de Wit, V. Parmentier, J. Harrington, J. I. Moses, M. Lopez-Morales, M. K. Alam, J. Blecic, G. Bruno, A. L. Carter, J. W. Chapman, L. Decin, D. Dragomir, T. M. Evans, J. J. Fortney, J. D. Fraine, P. Gao, A. García Muñoz, N. P. Gibson, J. M. Goyal, K. Heng, R. Hu, S. Kendrew, B. M. Kilpatrick, J. Krick, P.-O. Lagage, M. Lendl, T. Louden, N. Madhusudhan, A. M. Mandell, M. Mansfield, E. M. May, G. Morello, C. V. Morley, N. Nikolov, S. Redfield, J. E. Roberts, E. Schlawin, J. J. Spake, K. O. Todorov, A. Tsiaras, O. Venot, W. C. Waalkes, P. J. Wheatley, R. T. Zellem, D. Angerhausen, D. Barrado, L. Carone, S. L. Casewell, P. E. Cubillos, M. Damiano, M. de

Val-Borro, B. Drummond, B. Edwards, M. Endl, N. Espinoza, K. France, J. E. Gizis, T. P. Greene, T. K. Henning, Y. Hong, J. G. Ingalls, N. Iro, P. G. J. Irwin, T. Kataria, F. Lahuis, J. Leconte, J. Lillo-Box, S. Lines, J. D. Lothringer, L. Mancini, F. Marchis, N. Mayne, E. Palle, E. Rauscher, G. Roudier, E. L. Shkolnik, J. Southworth, M. R. Swain, J. Taylor, J. Teske, G. Tinetti, P. Tremblin, G. S. Tucker, R. van Boekel, I. P. Waldmann, I. C. Weaver, and T. Zingales. The Transiting Exoplanet Community Early Release Science Program for JWST. ArXiv e-prints, March 2018.

- T. G. Beatty, N. Madhusudhan, R. Pogge, S. M. Chung, A. Bierlya, B. S. Gaudi, and D. W. Latham. The Broadband and Spectrally Resolved H-band Eclipse of KELT-1b and the Role of Surface Gravity in Stratospheric Inversions in Hot Jupiters. AJ, 154:242, December 2017.
- T. G. Beatty, N. Madhusudhan, A. Tsiaras, M. Zhao, R. L. Gilliland, H. A. Knutson, A. Shporer, and J. T. Wright. Evidence for Atmospheric Cold-trap Processes in the Noninverted Emission Spectrum of Kepler-13Ab Using HST/WFC3. AJ, 154:158, October 2017.
- C. A. Beichman and T. P. Greene. Observing Exoplanets with the James Webb Space Telescope, page 85. 2017.
- T. J. Bell and N. B. Cowan. Increased Heat Transport in Ultra-hot Jupiter Atmospheres through H<sub>2</sub> Dissociation and Recombination. ApJ, 857:L20, April 2018.
- B. Benneke and S. Seager. How to Distinguish between Cloudy Mini-Neptunes and Water/Volatile-dominated Super-Earths. ApJ, 778:153, December 2013.
- 24. J. L. Birkby, R. J. de Kok, M. Brogi, E. J. W. de Mooij, H. Schwarz, S. Albrecht, and I. A. G. Snellen. Detection of water absorption in the day side atmosphere of HD 189733 b using ground-based high-resolution spectroscopy at 3.2 μm. MNRAS, 436:L35–L39, November 2013.
- 25. J. L. Birkby, R. J. de Kok, M. Brogi, H. Schwarz, and I. A. G. Snellen. Discovery of Water at High Spectral Resolution in the Atmosphere of 51 Peg b. AJ, 153:138, March 2017.
- 26. J. L. Birkby. Exoplanet Atmospheres at High Spectral Resolution. arXiv e-prints, June 2018.
- J. Blecic, I. Dobbs-Dixon, and T. Greene. The Implications of 3D Thermal Structure on 1D Atmospheric Retrieval. ApJ, 848:127, October 2017.
- M. R. Bolcar, L. Feinberg, K. France, B. J. Rauscher, D. Redding, and D. Schiminovich. Initial technology assessment for the Large-Aperture UV-Optical-Infrared (LUVOIR) mission concept study. In Space Telescopes and Instrumentation 2016: Optical, Infrared, and Millimeter Wave, volume 9904 of Proc. SPIE, page 99040J, July 2016.
- M. Bonnefoy, A. Zurlo, J. L. Baudino, P. Lucas, D. Mesa, A.-L. Maire, A. Vigan, R. Galicher, D. Homeier, F. Marocco, R. Gratton, G. Chauvin, F. Allard, S. Desidera, M. Kasper, C. Moutou, A.-M. Lagrange, J. Antichi, A. Baruffolo, J. Baudrand, J.-L. Beuzit, A. Boccaletti, F. Cantalloube, M. Carbillet, J. Charton, R. U. Claudi, A. Costille, K. Dohlen, C. Dominik, D. Fantinel, P. Feautrier, M. Feldt, T. Fusco, P. Gigan, J. H. Girard, L. Gluck, C. Gry, T. Henning, M. Janson, M. Langlois, F. Madec, Y. Magnard, D. Maurel, D. Mawet, M. R. Meyer, J. Milli, O. Moeller-Nilsson, D. Mouillet, A. Pavlov, D. Perret, P. Pujet, S. P. Quanz, S. Rochat, G. Rousset, A. Roux, B. Salasnich, G. Salter, J.-F. Sauvage, H. M. Schmid, A. Sevin, C. Soenke, E. Stadler, M. Turatto, S. Udry, F. Vakili, Z. Wahhaj, and F. Wildi. First light of the VLT planet finder SPHERE. IV. Physical and chemical properties of the planets around HR8799. A&A, 587:A58, March 2016.
- R. A. Booth and C. J. Clarke. Chemical enrichment of the planet-forming region as probed by accretion. MNRAS, 473:757–764, January 2018.
- R. A. Booth, C. J. Clarke, N. Madhusudhan, and J. D. Ilee. Chemical enrichment of giant planets and discs due to pebble drift. MNRAS, 469:3994–4011, August 2017.
- V. Bourrier, D. Ehrenreich, and A. Lecavelier des Etangs. Radiative braking in the extended exosphere of GJ 436 b. A&A, 582:A65, October 2015.
- V. Bourrier, A. Lecavelier des Etangs, H. Dupuy, D. Ehrenreich, A. Vidal-Madjar, G. Hébrard, G. E. Ballester, J.-M. Désert, R. Ferlet, D. K. Sing, and P. J. Wheatley. Atmospheric escape

from HD 189733b observed in H I Lyman- $\alpha$ : detailed analysis of HST/STIS September 2011 observations. A & A, 551:A63, March 2013.

- 34. V. Bourrier, A. Lecavelier des Etangs, D. Ehrenreich, Y. A. Tanaka, and A. A. Vidotto. An evaporating planet in the wind: stellar wind interactions with the radiatively braked exosphere of GJ 436 b. A&A, 591:A121, June 2016.
- 35. V. Bourrier, A. Lecavelier des Etangs, D. Ehrenreich, J. Sanz-Forcada, R. Allart, G. E. Ballester, L. A. Buchhave, O. Cohen, D. Deming, T. M. Evans, A. García Muñoz, G. W. Henry, T. Kataria, P. Lavvas, N. Lewis, M. López-Morales, M. Marley, D. K. Sing, and H. R. Wakeford. Hubble PanCET: an extended upper atmosphere of neutral hydrogen around the warm Neptune GJ 3470b. A&A, 620:A147, December 2018.
- 36. I. A. Boutle, N. J. Mayne, B. Drummond, J. Manners, J. Goyal, F. Hugo Lambert, D. M. Acreman, and P. D. Earnshaw. Exploring the climate of Proxima B with the Met Office Unified Model. A&A, 601:A120, May 2017.
- 37. M. Brogi, I. A. G. Snellen, R. J. de Kok, S. Albrecht, J. Birkby, and E. J. W. de Mooij. The signature of orbital motion from the dayside of the planet  $\tau$  Boötis b. *Nature*, 486:502–504, June 2012.
- M. Brogi, I. A. G. Snellen, R. J. de Kok, S. Albrecht, J. L. Birkby, and E. J. W. de Mooij. Detection of Molecular Absorption in the Dayside of Exoplanet 51 Pegasi b? *ApJ*, 767:27, April 2013.
- M. Brogi, R. J. de Kok, J. L. Birkby, H. Schwarz, and I. A. G. Snellen. Carbon monoxide and water vapor in the atmosphere of the non-transiting exoplanet HD 179949 b. A&A, 565:A124, May 2014.
- 40. M. Brogi, R. J. de Kok, S. Albrecht, I. A. G. Snellen, J. L. Birkby, and H. Schwarz. Rotation and Winds of Exoplanet HD 189733 b Measured with High-dispersion Transmission Spectroscopy. *ApJ*, 817:106, February 2016.
- M. Brogi, M. Line, J. Bean, J.-M. Désert, and H. Schwarz. A Framework to Combine Lowand High-resolution Spectroscopy for the Atmospheres of Transiting Exoplanets. *ApJ*, 839:L2, April 2017.
- B. Burningham, M. S. Marley, M. R. Line, R. Lupu, C. Visscher, C. V. Morley, D. Saumon, and R. Freedman. Retrieval of atmospheric properties of cloudy L dwarfs. *MNRAS*, 470:1177– 1197, September 2017.
- 43. A. Burrows, J. Budaj, and I. Hubeny. Theoretical Spectra and Light Curves of Close-in Extrasolar Giant Planets and Comparison with Data. ApJ, 678:1436–1457, May 2008.
- 44. A. Burrows, I. Hubeny, J. Budaj, H. A. Knutson, and D. Charbonneau. Theoretical Spectral Models of the Planet HD 209458b with a Thermal Inversion and Water Emission Bands. ApJ, 668:L171–L174, October 2007.
- 45. A. Burrows and G. Orton. Giant Planet Atmospheres and Spectra. *ArXiv e-prints*, October 2009.
- A. Burrows and C. M. Sharp. Chemical Equilibrium Abundances in Brown Dwarf and Extrasolar Giant Planet Atmospheres. ApJ, 512:843–863, February 1999.
- S. H. C. Cabot, N. Madhusudhan, G. A. Hawker, and S. Gandhi. On the robustness of analysis techniques for molecular detections using high-resolution exoplanet spectroscopy. *MNRAS*, 482:4422–4436, February 2019.
- N. Casasayas-Barris, E. Palle, G. Nowak, F. Yan, L. Nortmann, and F. Murgas. Detection of sodium in the atmosphere of WASP-69b. A&A, 608:A135, December 2017.
- D. C. Catling, J. Krissansen-Totton, N. Y. Kiang, D. Crisp, T. D. Robinson, S. DasSarma, A. J. Rushby, A. Del Genio, W. Bains, and S. Domagal-Goldman. Exoplanet Biosignatures: A Framework for Their Assessment. Astrobiology, 18:709–738, June 2018.
- D. Charbonneau, T. M. Brown, R. W. Noyes, and R. L. Gilliland. Detection of an Extrasolar Planet Atmosphere. ApJ, 568:377–384, March 2002.
- 51. D. Charbonneau, H. A. Knutson, T. Barman, L. E. Allen, M. Mayor, S. T. Megeath, D. Queloz,

and S. Udry. The Broadband Infrared Emission Spectrum of the Exoplanet HD 189733b. ApJ, 686:1341–1348, October 2008.

- G. Chen, E. Pallé, L. Nortmann, F. Murgas, H. Parviainen, and G. Nowak. The GTC exoplanet transit spectroscopy survey. VI. Detection of sodium in WASP-52b's cloudy atmosphere. A&A, 600:L11, April 2017.
- 53. G. Chen, E. Pallé, L. Welbanks, J. Prieto-Arranz, N. Madhusudhan, S. Gandhi, N. Casasayas-Barris, F. Murgas, L. Nortmann, N. Crouzet, H. Parviainen, and D. Gandolfi. The GTC exoplanet transit spectroscopy survey. IX. Detection of haze, Na, K, and Li in the super-Neptune WASP-127b. A&A, 616:A145, August 2018.
- 54. J. Chilcote, L. Pueyo, R. J. De Rosa, J. Vargas, B. Macintosh, V. P. Bailey, T. Barman, B. Bauman, S. Bruzzone, J. Bulger, A. S. Burrows, A. Cardwell, C. H. Chen, T. Cotten, D. Dillon, R. Doyon, Z. H. Draper, G. Duchêne, J. Dunn, D. Erikson, M. P. Fitzgerald, K. B. Follette, D. Gavel, S. J. Goodsell, J. R. Graham, A. Z. Greenbaum, M. Hartung, P. Hibon, L.-W. Hung, P. Ingraham, P. Kalas, Q. Konopacky, J. E. Larkin, J. Maire, F. Marchis, M. S. Marley, C. Marois, S. Metchev, M. A. Millar-Blanchaer, K. M. Morzinski, E. L. Nielsen, A. Norton, R. Oppenheimer, D. Palmer, J. Patience, M. Perrin, L. Poyneer, A. Rajan, J. Rameau, F. T. Rantakyrö, N. Sadakuni, L. Saddlemyer, D. Savransky, A. C. Schneider, A. Serio, A. Sivaramakrishnan, I. Song, R. Soummer, S. Thomas, J. K. Wallace, J. J. Wang, K. Ward-Duong, S. Wiktorowicz, and S. Wolff. 1-2.4 μm Near-IR Spectrum of the Giant Planet β Pictoris b Obtained with the Gemini Planet Imager. AJ, 153:182, April 2017.
- 55. K. D. Colón, E. B. Ford, S. Redfield, J. J. Fortney, M. Shabram, H. J. Deeg, and S. Mahadevan. Probing potassium in the atmosphere of HD 80606b with tunable filter transit spectrophotometry from the Gran Telescopio Canarias. MNRAS, 419:2233–2250, January 2012.
- A. J. Cridland, R. E. Pudritz, and M. Alessi. Composition of early planetary atmospheres
   I. Connecting disc astrochemistry to the formation of planetary atmospheres. *MNRAS*, 461:3274–3295, September 2016.
- A. J. Cridland, Ralph E. Pudritz, Tilman Birnstiel, L. Ilsedore Cleeves, and Edwin A. Bergin. Composition of early planetary atmospheres - II. Coupled Dust and chemical evolution in protoplanetary discs. MNRAS, 469:3910–3927, August 2017.
- I. J. M. Crossfield and L. Kreidberg. Trends in Atmospheric Properties of Neptune-size Exoplanets. AJ, 154:261, December 2017.
- N. Crouzet, P. R. McCullough, D. Deming, and N. Madhusudhan. Water Vapor in the Spectrum of the Extrasolar Planet HD 189733b. II. The Eclipse. ApJ, 795:166, November 2014.
- M. Damiano, G. Morello, A. Tsiaras, T. Zingales, and G. Tinetti. Near-IR Transmission Spectrum of HAT-P-32b using HST/WFC3. AJ, 154:39, July 2017.
- J. de Wit, M. Gillon, B.-O. Demory, and S. Seager. Towards consistent mapping of distant worlds: secondary-eclipse scanning of the exoplanet HD 189733b. A&A, 548:A128, December 2012.
- 62. D. Deming, S. Seager, J. Winn, E. Miller-Ricci, M. Clampin, D. Lindler, T. Greene, D. Charbonneau, G. Laughlin, G. Ricker, D. Latham, and K. Ennico. Discovery and Characterization of Transiting Super Earths Using an All-Sky Transit Survey and Follow-up by the James Webb Space Telescope. PASP, 121:952, September 2009.
- 63. D. Deming, A. Wilkins, P. McCullough, A. Burrows, J. J. Fortney, E. Agol, I. Dobbs-Dixon, N. Madhusudhan, N. Crouzet, J.-M. Desert, R. L. Gilliland, K. Haynes, H. A. Knutson, M. Line, Z. Magic, A. M. Mandell, S. Ranjan, D. Charbonneau, M. Clampin, S. Seager, and A. P. Showman. Infrared Transmission Spectroscopy of the Exoplanets HD 209458b and XO-1b Using the Wide Field Camera-3 on the Hubble Space Telescope. ApJ, 774:95, September 2013.
- 64. B.-O. Demory, J. de Wit, N. Lewis, J. Fortney, A. Zsom, S. Seager, H. Knutson, K. Heng, N. Madhusudhan, M. Gillon, T. Barclay, J.-M. Desert, V. Parmentier, and N. B. Cowan. Inference of Inhomogeneous Clouds in an Exoplanet Atmosphere. *ApJ*, 776:L25, October

2013.

- 65. B.-O. Demory, M. Gillon, J. de Wit, N. Madhusudhan, E. Bolmont, K. Heng, T. Kataria, N. Lewis, R. Hu, J. Krick, V. Stamenković, B. Benneke, S. Kane, and D. Queloz. A map of the large day-night temperature gradient of a super-Earth exoplanet. *Nature*, 532:207–209, April 2016.
- 66. I. Dobbs-Dixon and N. B. Cowan. Wavelength Does Not Equal Pressure: Vertical Contribution Functions and Their Implications for Mapping Hot Jupiters. ApJ, 851:L26, December 2017.
- 67. B. Drummond, N. J. Mayne, I. Baraffe, P. Tremblin, J. Manners, D. S. Amundsen, J. Goyal, and D. Acreman. The effect of metallicity on the atmospheres of exoplanets with fully coupled 3D hydrodynamics, equilibrium chemistry, and radiative transfer. A&A, 612:A105, May 2018.
- 68. B. Drummond, P. Tremblin, I. Baraffe, D. S. Amundsen, N. J. Mayne, O. Venot, and J. Goyal. The effects of consistent chemical kinetics calculations on the pressure-temperature profiles and emission spectra of hot Jupiters. A&A, 594:A69, October 2016.
- 69. D. Ehrenreich, X. Bonfils, C. Lovis, X. Delfosse, T. Forveille, M. Mayor, V. Neves, N. C. Santos, S. Udry, and D. Ségransan. Near-infrared transmission spectrum of the warm-Uranus GJ 3470b with the Wide Field Camera-3 on the Hubble Space Telescope. A&A, 570:A89, October 2014.
- D. Ehrenreich, V. Bourrier, X. Bonfils, A. Lecavelier des Etangs, G. Hébrard, D. K. Sing,
   P. J. Wheatley, A. Vidal-Madjar, X. Delfosse, S. Udry, T. Forveille, and C. Moutou. Hint of a transiting extended atmosphere on 55 Cancri b. A&A, 547:A18, November 2012.
- D. Ehrenreich, V. Bourrier, P. J. Wheatley, A. Lecavelier des Etangs, G. Hébrard, S. Udry, X. Bonfils, X. Delfosse, J.-M. Désert, D. K. Sing, and A. Vidal-Madjar. A giant comet-like cloud of hydrogen escaping the warm Neptune-mass exoplanet GJ 436b. *Nature*, 522:459–461, June 2015.
- C. Eistrup, C. Walsh, and E. F. van Dishoeck. Setting the volatile composition of (exo)planetbuilding material. Does chemical evolution in disk midplanes matter? A&A, 595:A83, November 2016.
- Christian Eistrup, Catherine Walsh, and Ewine F. van Dishoeck. Molecular abundances and C/O ratios in chemically evolving planet- forming disk midplanes. A&A, 613:A14, May 2018.
- Lisa J. Esteves, Ernst J. W. de Mooij, Ray Jayawardhana, Chris Watson, and Remco de Kok. A search for water in a super-earth atmosphere: High-resolution optical spectroscopy of 55cancri e. AJ, 153(6):268, may 2017.
- 75. T. M. Evans, F. Pont, D. K. Sing, S. Aigrain, J. K. Barstow, J.-M. Désert, N. Gibson, K. Heng, H. A. Knutson, and A. Lecavelier des Etangs. The Deep Blue Color of HD 189733b: Albedo Measurements with Hubble Space Telescope/Space Telescope Imaging Spectrograph at Visible Wavelengths. ApJ, 772:L16, August 2013.
- 76. T. M. Evans, D. K. Sing, T. Kataria, J. Goyal, N. Nikolov, H. R. Wakeford, D. Deming, M. S. Marley, D. S. Amundsen, G. E. Ballester, J. K. Barstow, L. Ben-Jaffel, V. Bourrier, L. A. Buchhave, O. Cohen, D. Ehrenreich, A. García Muñoz, G. W. Henry, H. Knutson, P. Lavvas, A. Lecavelier Des Etangs, N. K. Lewis, M. López-Morales, A. M. Mandell, J. Sanz-Forcada, P. Tremblin, and R. Lupu. An ultrahot gas-giant exoplanet with a stratosphere. *Nature*, 548:58–61, August 2017.
- 77. T. M. Evans, D. K. Sing, H. R. Wakeford, N. Nikolov, G. E. Ballester, B. Drummond, T. Kataria, N. P. Gibson, D. S. Amundsen, and J. Spake. Detection of H<sub>2</sub>O and Evidence for TiO/VO in an Ultra-hot Exoplanet Atmosphere. *ApJ*, 822:L4, May 2016.
- D. A. Fischer, A. W. Howard, G. P. Laughlin, B. Macintosh, S. Mahadevan, J. Sahlmann, and J. C. Yee. Exoplanet Detection Techniques. *Protostars and Planets VI*, pages 715–737, 2014.
- L. N. Fletcher, G. S. Orton, N. A. Teanby, P. G. J. Irwin, and G. L. Bjoraker. Methane and its isotopologues on Saturn from Cassini/CIRS observations. *Icarus*, 199:351–367, February 2009.
- 80. J. J. Fortney. The effect of condensates on the characterization of transiting planet atmo-

spheres with transmission spectroscopy. MNRAS, 364:649-653, December 2005.

- J. J. Fortney, K. Lodders, M. S. Marley, and R. S. Freedman. A Unified Theory for the Atmospheres of the Hot and Very Hot Jupiters: Two Classes of Irradiated Atmospheres. *ApJ*, 678:1419–1435, May 2008.
- 82. L. Fossati, C. A. Haswell, and C. S. Froning. A multi-wavelength analysis of the WASP-12 planetary system. In A. Sozzetti, M. G. Lattanzi, and A. P. Boss, editors, *The Astrophysics of Planetary Systems: Formation, Structure, and Dynamical Evolution*, volume 276 of *IAU Symposium*, pages 163–166, November 2011.
- L. Fossati, C. A. Haswell, C. S. Froning, L. Hebb, S. Holmes, U. Kolb, C. Helling, A. Carter, P. Wheatley, A. Collier Cameron, B. Loeillet, D. Pollacco, R. Street, H. C. Stempels, E. Simpson, S. Udry, Y. C. Joshi, R. G. West, I. Skillen, and D. Wilson. Metals in the Exosphere of the Highly Irradiated Planet WASP-12b. ApJ, 714:L222–L227, May 2010.
- 84. J. Fraine, D. Deming, B. Benneke, H. Knutson, A. Jordán, N. Espinoza, N. Madhusudhan, A. Wilkins, and K. Todorov. Water vapour absorption in the clear atmosphere of a Neptunesized exoplanet. *Nature*, 513:526–529, September 2014.
- J. D. Fraine, D. Deming, A. Jordan, and H. Knutson. Super-Earths, Warm Neptunes, and Hot Jupiters: Transmission Spectroscopy for Comparative Planetology. In American Astronomical Society Meeting Abstracts #225, volume 225 of American Astronomical Society Meeting Abstracts, page 124.01, January 2015.
- Guangwei Fu, Drake Deming, Heather Knutson, Nikku Madhusudhan, Avi Mandell, and Jonathan Fraine. Statistical Analysis of Hubble/WFC3 Transit Spectroscopy of Extrasolar Planets. ApJ, 847:L22, October 2017.
- Y. Fujii, D. Angerhausen, R. Deitrick, S. Domagal-Goldman, J. L. Grenfell, Y. Hori, S. R. Kane, E. Pallé, H. Rauer, N. Siegler, K. Stapelfeldt, and K. B. Stevenson. Exoplanet Biosignatures: Observational Prospects. *Astrobiology*, 18:739–778, June 2018.
- 88. B. J. Fulton, E. A. Petigura, A. W. Howard, H. Isaacson, G. W. Marcy, P. A. Cargile, L. Hebb, L. M. Weiss, J. A. Johnson, T. D. Morton, E. Sinukoff, I. J. M. Crossfield, and L. A. Hirsch. The California-Kepler Survey. III. A Gap in the Radius Distribution of Small Planets. *AJ*, 154:109, September 2017.
- S. Gandhi and N. Madhusudhan. GENESIS: new self-consistent models of exoplanetary spectra. MNRAS, 472:2334–2355, December 2017.
- B. S. Gaudi, S. Seager, B. Mennesson, A. Kiessling, K. Warfield, G. Kuan, K. Cahoy, J. T. Clarke, S. Domagal-Goldman, L. Feinberg, O. Guyon, J. Kasdin, D. Mawet, T. Robinson, L. Rogers, P. Scowen, R. Somerville, K. Stapelfeldt, C. Stark, D. Stern, M. Turnbull, S. Martin, O. Alvarez-Salazar, R. Amini, W. Arnold, B. Balasubramanian, M. Baysinger, L. Blais, T. Brooks, R. Calvet, V. Cormarkovic, C. Cox, R. Danner, J. Davis, L. Dorsett, M. Effinger, R. Eng, J. Garcia, J. Gaskin, J. Harris, S. Howe, B. Knight, J. Krist, D. Levine, M. Li, D. Lisman, M. Mandic, L. Marchen, C. Marrese-Reading, J. McGowen, A. Miyaguchi, R. Morgan, B. Nemati, S. Nikzad, J. Nissen, M. Novicki, T. Perrine, D. Redding, M. Richards, M. Rud, D. Scharf, G. Serabyn, S. Shaklan, S. Smith, M. Stahl, P. Stahl, H. Tang, D. Van Buren, J. Villalvazo, S. Warwick, D. Webb, R. Wofford, J. Woo, M. Wood, J. Ziemer, E. Douglas, V. Faramaz, S. Hildebrandt, T. Meshkat, P. Plavchan, G. Ruane, and N. Turner. The Habitable Exoplanet Observatory (HabEx) Mission Concept Study Interim Report. arXiv e-prints, September 2018.
- A. Garcia Munoz and K. G. Isaak. Probing exoplanet clouds with optical phase curves. Proceedings of the National Academy of Science, 112:13461–13466, November 2015.
- M. Gillon, E. Jehin, S. M. Lederer, L. Delrez, J. de Wit, A. Burdanov, V. Van Grootel, A. J. Burgasser, A. H. M. J. Triaud, C. Opitom, B.-O. Demory, D. K. Sahu, D. Bardalez Gagliuffi, P. Magain, and D. Queloz. Temperate Earth-sized planets transiting a nearby ultracool dwarf star. *Nature*, 533:221–224, May 2016.
- 93. A. Z. Greenbaum, L. Pueyo, J.-B. Ruffio, J. J. Wang, R. J. De Rosa, J. Aguilar, J. Rameau,

T. Barman, C. Marois, M. S. Marley, Q. Konopacky, A. Rajan, B. Macintosh, M. Ansdell, P. Arriaga, V. P. Bailey, J. Bulger, A. S. Burrows, J. Chilcote, T. Cotten, R. Doyon, G. Duchêne, M. P. Fitzgerald, K. B. Follette, B. Gerard, S. J. Goodsell, J. R. Graham, P. Hibon, L.-W. Hung, P. Ingraham, P. Kalas, J. E. Larkin, J. Maire, F. Marchis, S. Metchev, M. A. Millar-Blanchaer, E. L. Nielsen, A. Norton, R. Oppenheimer, D. Palmer, J. Patience, M. D. Perrin, L. Poyneer, F. T. Rantakyrö, D. Savransky, A. C. Schneider, A. Sivaramakrishnan, I. Song, R. Soummer, S. Thomas, J. K. Wallace, K. Ward-Duong, S. Wiktorowicz, and S. Wolff. GPI Spectra of HR 8799 c, d, and e from 1.5 to 2.4  $\mu$ m with KLIP Forward Modeling. *AJ*, 155:226, June 2018.

- 94. T. P. Greene, M. R. Line, C. Montero, J. J. Fortney, J. Lustig-Yaeger, and K. Luther. Characterizing Transiting Exoplanet Atmospheres with JWST. ApJ, 817:17, January 2016.
- 95. J. L. Grenfell, B. Stracke, P. von Paris, B. Patzer, R. Titz, A. Segura, and H. Rauer. The response of atmospheric chemistry on earthlike planets around F, G and K Stars to small variations in orbital distance. *Planet. Space Sci.*, 55:661–671, April 2007.
- C. J. Grillmair, A. Burrows, D. Charbonneau, L. Armus, J. Stauffer, V. Meadows, J. van Cleve, K. von Braun, and D. Levine. Strong water absorption in the dayside emission spectrum of the planet HD189733b. *Nature*, 456:767–769, December 2008.
- M. Güdel, R. Dvorak, N. Erkaev, J. Kasting, M. Khodachenko, H. Lammer, E. Pilat-Lohinger, H. Rauer, I. Ribas, and B. E. Wood. Astrophysical Conditions for Planetary Habitability. *Protostars and Planets VI*, pages 883–906, 2014.
- T. Guillot. The composition of transiting giant extrasolar planets. *Physica Scripta Volume* T, 130(1):014023, August 2008.
- N. Haghighipour and S. N. Raymond. Habitable Planet Formation in Binary Planetary Systems. ApJ, 666:436–446, September 2007.
- 100. G. J. Harris, J. Tennyson, B. M. Kaminsky, Y. V. Pavlenko, and H. R. A. Jones. Improved HCN/HNC linelist, model atmospheres and synthetic spectra for WZ Cas. *MNRAS*, 367:400–406, March 2006.
- 101. G. A. Hawker, N. Madhusudhan, S. H. C. Cabot, and S. Gandhi. Evidence for Multiple Molecular Species in the Hot Jupiter HD 209458b. ApJ, 863:L11, August 2018.
- 102. K. Haynes, A. M. Mandell, N. Madhusudhan, D. Deming, and H. Knutson. Spectroscopic Evidence for a Temperature Inversion in the Dayside Atmosphere of Hot Jupiter WASP-33b. *ApJ*, 806:146, June 2015.
- 103. C. Helling, G. Lee, I. Dobbs-Dixon, N. Mayne, D. S. Amundsen, J. Khaimova, A. A. Unger, J. Manners, D. Acreman, and C. Smith. The mineral clouds on HD 209458b and HD 189733b. *MNRAS*, 460:855–883, July 2016.
- 104. K. Heng. A Cloudiness Index for Transiting Exoplanets Based on the Sodium and Potassium Lines: Tentative Evidence for Hotter Atmospheres Being Less Cloudy at Visible Wavelengths. ApJ, 826:L16, July 2016.
- 105. K. Heng and D. Kitzmann. Analytical Models of Exoplanetary Atmospheres. IV. Improved Two-stream Radiative Transfer for the Treatment of Aerosols. ApJS, 232:20, October 2017.
- 106. H. J. Hoeijmakers, D. Ehrenreich, K. Heng, D. Kitzmann, S. L. Grimm, R. Allart, R. Deitrick, A. Wyttenbach, M. Oreshenko, L. Pino, P. B. Rimmer, E. Molinari, and L. Di Fabrizio. Atomic iron and titanium in the atmosphere of the exoplanet KELT-9b. *Nature*, 560:453–455, August 2018.
- 107. H. J. Hoeijmakers, H. Schwarz, I. A. G. Snellen, R. J. de Kok, M. Bonnefoy, G. Chauvin, A. M. Lagrange, and J. H. Girard. Medium-resolution integral-field spectroscopy for high-contrast exoplanet imaging. Molecule maps of the  $\beta$  Pictoris system with SINFONI. A&A, 617:A144, October 2018.
- 108. X. Huang, R. S. Freedman, S. A. Tashkun, D. W. Schwenke, and T. J. Lee. Semi-empirical <sup>12</sup>C<sup>16</sup>O<sub>2</sub> IR line lists for simulations up to 1500 K and 20,000 cm<sup>-1</sup>. J. Quant. Spec. Radiat. Transf., 130:134–146, November 2013.
- 48 N. Madhusudhan

- 109. Xinchuan Huang, David W. Schwenke, Richard S. Freedman, and Timothy J. Lee. Ames-2016 line lists for 13 isotopologues of co2: Updates, consistency, and remaining issues. J. Quant. Spec. Radiat. Transf., 203:224 – 241, 2017. HITRAN2016 Special Issue.
- 110. I. Hubeny. Model atmospheres of sub-stellar mass objects. MNRAS, 469:841-869, July 2017.
- I. Hubeny, A. Burrows, and D. Sudarsky. A Possible Bifurcation in Atmospheres of Strongly Irradiated Stars and Planets. ApJ, 594:1011–1018, September 2003.
- 112. C. M. Huitson, D. K. Sing, F. Pont, J. J. Fortney, A. S. Burrows, P. A. Wilson, G. E. Ballester, N. Nikolov, N. P. Gibson, D. Deming, S. Aigrain, T. M. Evans, G. W. Henry, A. Lecavelier des Etangs, A. P. Showman, A. Vidal-Madjar, and K. Zahnle. An HST optical-to-near-IR transmission spectrum of the hot Jupiter WASP-19b: detection of atmospheric water and likely absence of TiO. MNRAS, 434:3252–3274, October 2013.
- 113. J. D. Ilee, D. H. Forgan, M. G. Evans, C. Hall, R. Booth, C. J. Clarke, W. K. M. Rice, A. C. Boley, P. Caselli, T. W. Hartquist, and J. M. C. Rawlings. The chemistry of protoplanetary fragments formed via gravitational instabilities. *MNRAS*, 472:189–204, November 2017.
- M. Janson, T. D. Brandt, M. Kuzuhara, D. S. Spiegel, C. Thalmann, T. Currie, M. Bonnefoy, N. Zimmerman, S. Sorahana, T. Kotani, J. Schlieder, J. Hashimoto, T. Kudo, N. Kusakabe, L. Abe, W. Brandner, J. C. Carson, S. Egner, M. Feldt, M. Goto, C. A. Grady, O. Guyon, Y. Hayano, M. Hayashi, S. Hayashi, T. Henning, K. W. Hodapp, M. Ishii, M. Iye, R. Kandori, G. R. Knapp, J. Kwon, T. Matsuo, M. W. McElwain, K. Mede, S. Miyama, J.-I. Morino, A. Moro-Martín, T. Nakagawa, T. Nishimura, T.-S. Pyo, E. Serabyn, T. Suenaga, H. Suto, R. Suzuki, Y. Takahashi, M. Takami, N. Takato, H. Terada, D. Tomono, E. L. Turner, M. Watanabe, J. Wisniewski, T. Yamada, H. Takami, T. Usuda, and M. Tamura. Direct Imaging Detection of Methane in the Atmosphere of GJ 504 b. ApJ, 778:L4, November 2013.
- 115. M. Janson, J. Carson, C. Thalmann, M. W. McElwain, M. Goto, J. Crepp, J. Wisniewski, L. Abe, W. Brandner, A. Burrows, S. Egner, M. Feldt, C. A. Grady, T. Golota, O. Guyon, J. Hashimoto, Y. Hayano, M. Hayashi, S. Hayashi, T. Henning, K. W. Hodapp, M. Ishii, M. Iye, R. Kandori, G. R. Knapp, T. Kudo, N. Kusakabe, M. Kuzuhara, T. Matsuo, S. Mayama, S. Miyama, J.-I. Morino, A. Moro-Martín, T. Nishimura, T.-S. Pyo, E. Serabyn, H. Suto, R. Suzuki, M. Takami, N. Takato, H. Terada, B. Tofflemire, D. Tomono, E. L. Turner, M. Watanabe, T. Yamada, H. Takami, T. Usuda, and M. Tamura. Near-infrared Multi-band Photometry of the Substellar Companion GJ 758 B. *ApJ*, 728:85, February 2011.
- A. G. Jensen, S. Redfield, M. Endl, W. D. Cochran, L. Koesterke, and T. Barman. A Detection of Hα in an Exoplanetary Exosphere. ApJ, 751:86, June 2012.
- 117. N. Jovanovic, F. Martinache, O. Guyon, C. Clergeon, G. Singh, T. Kudo, V. Garrel, K. Newman, D. Doughty, J. Lozi, J. Males, Y. Minowa, Y. Hayano, N. Takato, J. Morino, J. Kuhn, E. Serabyn, B. Norris, P. Tuthill, G. Schworer, P. Stewart, L. Close, E. Huby, G. Perrin, S. Lacour, L. Gauchet, S. Vievard, N. Murakami, F. Oshiyama, N. Baba, T. Matsuo, J. Nishikawa, M. Tamura, O. Lai, F. Marchis, G. Duchene, T. Kotani, and J. Woillez. The Subaru Coronagraphic Extreme Adaptive Optics System: Enabling High-Contrast Imaging on Solar-System Scales. *PASP*, 127:890, September 2015.
- 118. P. Kalas, J. R. Graham, E. Chiang, M. P. Fitzgerald, M. Clampin, E. S. Kite, K. Stapelfeldt, C. Marois, and J. Krist. Optical Images of an Exosolar Planet 25 Light-Years from Earth. *Science*, 322:1345, November 2008.
- L. Kaltenegger. How to Characterize Habitable Worlds and Signs of Life. ARA&A, 55:433–485, August 2017.
- 120. L. Kaltenegger, F. Selsis, M. Fridlund, H. Lammer, C. Beichman, W. Danchi, C. Eiroa, T. Henning, T. Herbst, A. Léger, R. Liseau, J. Lunine, F. Paresce, A. Penny, A. Quirrenbach, H. Röttgering, J. Schneider, D. Stam, G. Tinetti, and G. J. White. Deciphering Spectral Fingerprints of Habitable Exoplanets. *Astrobiology*, 10:89–102, January 2010.
- E. Karkoschka and M. G. Tomasko. The haze and methane distributions on Neptune from HST-STIS spectroscopy. *Icarus*, 211:780–797, January 2011.

- 122. T. Kataria, D. K. Sing, N. K. Lewis, C. Visscher, A. P. Showman, J. J. Fortney, and M. S. Marley. The Atmospheric Circulation of a Nine-hot-Jupiter Sample: Probing Circulation and Chemistry over a Wide Phase Space. ApJ, 821:9, April 2016.
- 123. B. M. Kilpatrick, P. E. Cubillos, K. B. Stevenson, N. K. Lewis, H. R. Wakeford, R. J. Mac-Donald, N. Madhusudhan, J. Blecic, G. Bruno, A. Burrows, D. Deming, K. Heng, M. R. Line, C. V. Morley, V. Parmentier, G. S. Tucker, J. A. Valenti, I. P. Waldmann, J. L. Bean, C. Beichman, J. Fraine, J. E. Krick, J. D. Lothringer, and A. M. Mandell. Community Targets of JWST's Early Release Science Program: Evaluation of WASP-63b. AJ, 156:103, September 2018.
- 124. H. A. Knutson, B. Benneke, D. Deming, and D. Homeier. A featureless transmission spectrum for the Neptune-mass exoplanet GJ436b. *Nature*, 505:66–68, January 2014.
- 125. H. A. Knutson, D. Charbonneau, L. E. Allen, A. Burrows, and S. T. Megeath. The 3.6-8.0  $\mu$ m Broadband Emission Spectrum of HD 209458b: Evidence for an Atmospheric Temperature Inversion. *ApJ*, 673:526–531, January 2008.
- 126. H. A. Knutson, D. Charbonneau, L. E. Allen, J. J. Fortney, E. Agol, N. B. Cowan, A. P. Showman, C. S. Cooper, and S. T. Megeath. A map of the day-night contrast of the extrasolar planet HD 189733b. *Nature*, 447:183–186, May 2007.
- 127. H. A. Knutson, D. Charbonneau, A. Burrows, F. T. O'Donovan, and G. Mandushev. Detection of A Temperature Inversion in the Broadband Infrared Emission Spectrum of TrES-4. ApJ, 691:866–874, January 2009.
- 128. T. D. Komacek, A. P. Showman, and X. Tan. Atmospheric Circulation of Hot Jupiters: Dayside-Nightside Temperature Differences. II. Comparison with Observations. ApJ, 835:198, February 2017.
- 129. Q. M. Konopacky, T. S. Barman, B. A. Macintosh, and C. Marois. Detection of Carbon Monoxide and Water Absorption Lines in an Exoplanet Atmosphere. *Science*, 339:1398–1401, March 2013.
- 130. R. k. Kopparapu, E. T. Wolf, G. Arney, N. E. Batalha, J. Haqq-Misra, S. L. Grimm, and K. Heng. Habitable Moist Atmospheres on Terrestrial Planets near the Inner Edge of the Habitable Zone around M Dwarfs. ApJ, 845:5, August 2017.
- 131. L. Kreidberg, J. L. Bean, J.-M. Désert, B. Benneke, D. Deming, K. B. Stevenson, S. Seager, Z. Berta-Thompson, A. Seifahrt, and D. Homeier. Clouds in the atmosphere of the super-Earth exoplanet GJ1214b. *Nature*, 505:69–72, January 2014.
- 132. L. Kreidberg, J. L. Bean, J.-M. Désert, M. R. Line, J. J. Fortney, N. Madhusudhan, K. B. Stevenson, A. P. Showman, D. Charbonneau, P. R. McCullough, S. Seager, A. Burrows, G. W. Henry, M. Williamson, T. Kataria, and D. Homeier. A Precise Water Abundance Measurement for the Hot Jupiter WASP-43b. ApJ, 793:L27, October 2014.
- 133. L. Kreidberg, M. R. Line, J. L. Bean, K. B. Stevenson, J.-M. Désert, N. Madhusudhan, J. J. Fortney, J. K. Barstow, G. W. Henry, M. H. Williamson, and A. P. Showman. A Detection of Water in the Transmission Spectrum of the Hot Jupiter WASP-12b and Implications for Its Atmospheric Composition. *ApJ*, 814:66, November 2015.
- 134. L. Kreidberg, M. R. Line, V. Parmentier, K. B. Stevenson, T. Louden, M. Bonnefoy, J. K. Faherty, G. W. Henry, M. H. Williamson, K. Stassun, T. G. Beatty, J. L. Bean, J. J. Fortney, A. P. Showman, J.-M. Désert, and J. Arcangeli. Global Climate and Atmospheric Composition of the Ultra-hot Jupiter WASP-103b from HST and Spitzer Phase Curve Observations. AJ, 156:17, July 2018.
- 135. L. Kreidberg. Exoplanet Atmosphere Measurements from Transmission Spectroscopy and Other Planet Star Combined Light Observations, page 100. 2018.
- 136. J. R. Kulow, K. France, J. Linsky, and R. O. P. Loyd. Lyα Transit Spectroscopy and the Neutral Hydrogen Tail of the Hot Neptune GJ 436b. ApJ, 786:132, May 2014.
- 137. R. L. Kurucz. Atomic and Molecular Data for Opacity Calculations. Rev. Mex. Astron. Astrofis., 23, March 1992.
- 50 N. Madhusudhan

- 138. Planetary Habitability Laboratory. Hec: Data of potentially habitable worlds, 2018.
- M. Lambrechts and A. Johansen. Rapid growth of gas-giant cores by pebble accretion. A&A, 544:A32, August 2012.
- 140. H. Lammer and M. Blanc. From Disks to Planets: The Making of Planets and Their Early Atmospheres. An Introduction. Space Sci. Rev., 214:60, March 2018.
- 141. B. LAVIE. HELIOS-R: An Ultrafast, Open-Source Retrieval Code For Exoplanetary Atmosphere Characterization. In AAS/Division for Extreme Solar Systems Abstracts, volume 3 of AAS/Division for Extreme Solar Systems Abstracts, page 104.20, December 2015.
- 142. B. Lavie, D. Ehrenreich, V. Bourrier, A. Lecavelier des Etangs, A. Vidal-Madjar, X. Delfosse, A. Gracia Berna, K. Heng, N. Thomas, S. Udry, and P. J. Wheatley. The long egress of GJ 436b's giant exosphere. A&A, 605:L7, September 2017.
- 143. B. Lavie, J. M. Mendonça, C. Mordasini, M. Malik, M. Bonnefoy, B.-O. Demory, M. Oreshenko, S. L. Grimm, D. Ehrenreich, and K. Heng. HELIOS-RETRIEVAL: An Open-source, Nested Sampling Atmospheric Retrieval Code; Application to the HR 8799 Exoplanets and Inferred Constraints for Planet Formation. AJ, 154:91, September 2017.
- 144. J.-M. Lee, K. Heng, and P. G. J. Irwin. Atmospheric Retrieval Analysis of the Directly Imaged Exoplanet HR 8799b. ApJ, 778:97, December 2013.
- 145. N. K. Lewis, V. Parmentier, T. Kataria, J. de Wit, A. P. Showman, J. J. Fortney, and M. S. Marley. Atmospheric Circulation and Cloud Evolution on the Highly Eccentric Extrasolar Planet HD 80606b. ArXiv e-prints, June 2017.
- 146. N. K. Lewis, A. P. Showman, J. J. Fortney, M. S. Marley, R. S. Freedman, and K. Lodders. Atmospheric Circulation of Eccentric Hot Neptune GJ436b. *ApJ*, 720:344–356, September 2010.
- 147. G. Li, I. E. Gordon, L. S. Rothman, Y. Tan, S.-M. Hu, S. Kassi, A. Campargue, and E. S. Medvedev. Rovibrational Line Lists for Nine Isotopologues of the CO Molecule in the X  $^{1}\Sigma^{+}$  Ground Electronic State. *ApJS*, 216:15, January 2015.
- 148. M. R. Line, H. Knutson, A. S. Wolf, and Y. L. Yung. A Systematic Retrieval Analysis of Secondary Eclipse Spectra. II. A Uniform Analysis of Nine Planets and their C to O Ratios. *ApJ*, 783:70, March 2014.
- 149. M. R. Line, M. S. Marley, M. C. Liu, B. Burningham, C. V. Morley, N. R. Hinkel, J. Teske, J. J. Fortney, R. Freedman, and R. Lupu. Uniform Atmospheric Retrieval Analysis of Ultracool Dwarfs. II. Properties of 11 T dwarfs. ApJ, 848:83, October 2017.
- M. R. Line and V. Parmentier. The Influence of Nonuniform Cloud Cover on Transit Transmission Spectra. ApJ, 820:78, March 2016.
- 151. M. R. Line, K. B. Stevenson, J. Bean, J.-M. Desert, J. J. Fortney, L. Kreidberg, N. Madhusudhan, A. P. Showman, and H. Diamond-Lowe. No Thermal Inversion and a Solar Water Abundance for the Hot Jupiter HD 209458b from HST/WFC3 Spectroscopy. AJ, 152:203, December 2016.
- 152. M. R. Line, J. Teske, B. Burningham, J. Fortney, and M. Marley. Uniform Atmospheric Retrieval Analysis of Ultracool Dwarfs I: Characterizing Benchmarks, Gl570D and HD3651B. *ArXiv e-prints*, April 2015.
- 153. S. Lines, N. J. Mayne, I. A. Boutle, J. Manners, G. K. H. Lee, C. Helling, B. Drummond, D. S. Amundsen, J. Goyal, D. M. Acreman, P. Tremblin, and M. Kerslake. Simulating the cloudy atmospheres of HD 209458 b and HD 189733 b with the 3D Met Office Unified Model. *A&A*, 615:A97, July 2018.
- 154. J. D. Lothringer, T. Barman, and T. Koskinen. Extremely Irradiated Hot Jupiters: Non-Oxide Inversions, H- Opacity, and Thermal Dissociation of Molecules. ArXiv e-prints, April 2018.
- 155. T. Louden and P. J. Wheatley. Spatially Resolved Eastward Winds and Rotation of HD 189733b. ApJ, 814:L24, December 2015.
- The LUVOIR Team. The LUVOIR Mission Concept Study Interim Report. arXiv e-prints, September 2018.

- 157. R. J. MacDonald and N. Madhusudhan. HD 209458b in new light: evidence of nitrogen chemistry, patchy clouds and sub-solar water. MNRAS, 469:1979–1996, August 2017.
- 158. R. J. MacDonald and N. Madhusudhan. Signatures of Nitrogen Chemistry in Hot Jupiter Atmospheres. ApJ, 850:L15, November 2017.
- B. Macintosh, J. R. Graham, T. Barman, R. J. De Rosa, Q. Konopacky, M. S. Marley, C. Marois, E. L. Nielsen, L. Pueyo, A. Rajan, J. Rameau, D. Saumon, J. J. Wang, J. Patience, M. Ammons, P. Arriaga, E. Artigau, S. Beckwith, J. Brewster, S. Bruzzone, J. Bulger, B. Burningham, A. S. Burrows, C. Chen, E. Chiang, J. K. Chilcote, R. I. Dawson, R. Dong, R. Doyon, Z. H. Draper, G. Duchêne, T. M. Esposito, D. Fabrycky, M. P. Fitzgerald, K. B. Follette, J. J. Fortney, B. Gerard, S. Goodsell, A. Z. Greenbaum, P. Hibon, S. Hinkley, T. H. Cotten, L.-W. Hung, P. Ingraham, M. Johnson-Groh, P. Kalas, D. Lafreniere, J. E. Larkin, J. Lee, M. Line, D. Long, J. Maire, F. Marchis, B. C. Matthews, C. E. Max, S. Metchev, M. A. Millar-Blanchaer, T. Mittal, C. V. Morley, K. M. Morzinski, R. Murray-Clay, R. Oppenheimer, D. W. Palmer, R. Patel, M. D. Perrin, L. A. Poyneer, R. R. Rafikov, F. T. Rantakyrö, E. L. Rice, P. Rojo, A. R. Rudy, J.-B. Ruffio, M. T. Ruiz, N. Sadakuni, L. Saddlemyer, M. Salama, D. Savransky, A. C. Schneider, A. Sivaramakrishnan, I. Song, R. Soummer, S. Thomas, G. Vasisht, J. K. Wallace, K. Ward-Duong, S. J. Wiktorowicz, S. G. Wolff, and B. Zuckerman. Discovery and spectroscopy of the young jovian planet 51 Eri b with the Gemini Planet Imager. *Science*, 350:64–67, October 2015.
- 160. B. Macintosh and Gemini Planet Imager Exoplanet Survey. The Gemini Planet Imager Exoplanet Survey and the discovery of the young Jupiter analog 51 Eridani b. In American Astronomical Society Meeting Abstracts #227, volume 227 of American Astronomical Society Meeting Abstracts, page 321.04, January 2016.
- 161. N. Madhusudhan. C/O Ratio as a Dimension for Characterizing Exoplanetary Atmospheres. ApJ, 758:36, October 2012.
- 162. N. Madhusudhan. Atmospheric Retrieval of Exoplanets. page 104, 2018.
- 163. N. Madhusudhan, M. Agúndez, J. I. Moses, and Y. Hu. Exoplanetary Atmospheres-Chemistry, Formation Conditions, and Habitability. *Space Sci. Rev.*, 205:285–348, December 2016.
- 164. N. Madhusudhan, M. A. Amin, and G. M. Kennedy. Toward Chemical Constraints on Hot Jupiter Migration. ApJ, 794:L12, October 2014.
- 165. N. Madhusudhan, B. Bitsch, A. Johansen, and L. Eriksson. Atmospheric signatures of giant exoplanet formation by pebble accretion. MNRAS, 469:4102–4115, August 2017.
- 166. N. Madhusudhan, N. Crouzet, P. R. McCullough, D. Deming, and C. Hedges. H<sub>2</sub>O Abundances in the Atmospheres of Three Hot Jupiters. ApJ, 791:L9, August 2014.
- 167. N. Madhusudhan, H. Knutson, J. J. Fortney, and T. Barman. Exoplanetary Atmospheres. Protostars and Planets VI, pages 739–762, 2014.
- N. Madhusudhan and S. Seager. A Temperature and Abundance Retrieval Method for Exoplanet Atmospheres. ApJ, 707:24–39, December 2009.
- 169. N. Madhusudhan and S. Seager. High Metallicity and Non-equilibrium Chemistry in the Dayside Atmosphere of hot-Neptune GJ 436b. ApJ, 729:41, March 2011.
- 170. M. Malik, L. Grosheintz, J. M. Mendonça, S. L. Grimm, B. Lavie, D. Kitzmann, S.-M. Tsai, A. Burrows, L. Kreidberg, M. Bedell, J. L. Bean, K. B. Stevenson, and K. Heng. HELIOS: An Open-source, GPU-accelerated Radiative Transfer Code for Self-consistent Exoplanetary Atmospheres. AJ, 153:56, February 2017.
- 171. A. M. Mandell, K. Haynes, E. Sinukoff, N. Madhusudhan, A. Burrows, and D. Deming. Exoplanet Transit Spectroscopy Using WFC3: WASP-12 b, WASP-17 b, and WASP-19 b. ApJ, 779:128, December 2013.
- 172. M. S. Marley, A. S. Ackerman, J. N. Cuzzi, and D. Kitzmann. Clouds and Hazes in Exoplanet Atmospheres, pages 367–391. 2013.
- 173. M. S. Marley and T. D. Robinson. On the Cool Side: Modeling the Atmospheres of Brown Dwarfs and Giant Planets. ARA&A, 53:279–323, August 2015.

- 174. C. Marois, B. Macintosh, T. Barman, B. Zuckerman, I. Song, J. Patience, D. Lafrenière, and R. Doyon. Direct Imaging of Multiple Planets Orbiting the Star HR 8799. *Science*, 322:1348, November 2008.
- 175. J. H. C. Martins, N. C. Santos, P. Figueira, J. P. Faria, M. Montalto, I. Boisse, D. Ehrenreich, C. Lovis, M. Mayor, C. Melo, F. Pepe, S. G. Sousa, S. Udry, and D. Cunha. Evidence for a spectroscopic direct detection of reflected light from 51 Pegasi b. A&A, 576:A134, April 2015.
- 176. R. Mbarek and E. M.-R. Kempton. Clouds in Super-Earth Atmospheres: Chemical Equilibrium Calculations. ApJ, 827:121, August 2016.
- 177. P. McCullough and J. MacKenty. Considerations for using Spatial Scans with WFC3. Technical report, May 2012.
- 178. P. R. McCullough, N. Crouzet, D. Deming, and N. Madhusudhan. Water Vapor in the Spectrum of the Extrasolar Planet HD 189733b. I. The Transit. ApJ, 791:55, August 2014.
- 179. V. S. Meadows, C. T. Reinhard, G. N. Arney, M. N. Parenteau, E. W. Schwieterman, S. D. Domagal-Goldman, A. P. Lincowski, K. R. Stapelfeldt, H. Rauer, S. DasSarma, S. Hegde, N. Narita, R. Deitrick, J. Lustig-Yaeger, T. W. Lyons, N. Siegler, and J. L. Grenfell. Exoplanet Biosignatures: Understanding Oxygen as a Biosignature in the Context of Its Environment. *Astrobiology*, 18:630–662, June 2018.
- 180. J. M. Mendonça, S. L. Grimm, L. Grosheintz, and K. Heng. THOR: A New and Flexible Global Circulation Model to Explore Planetary Atmospheres. ApJ, 829:115, October 2016.
- 181. B. Mennesson, S. Gaudi, S. Seager, K. Cahoy, S. Domagal-Goldman, L. Feinberg, O. Guyon, J. Kasdin, C. Marois, D. Mawet, M. Tamura, D. Mouillet, T. Prusti, A. Quirrenbach, T. Robinson, L. Rogers, P. Scowen, R. Somerville, K. Stapelfeldt, D. Stern, M. Still, M. Turnbull, J. Booth, A. Kiessling, G. Kuan, and K. Warfield. The Habitable Exoplanet (HabEx) Imaging Mission: preliminary science drivers and technical requirements. In *Space Telescopes and Instrumentation 2016: Optical, Infrared, and Millimeter Wave*, volume 9904 of *Proc. SPIE*, page 99040L, July 2016.
- 182. P. Mollière, R. van Boekel, C. Dullemond, T. Henning, and C. Mordasini. Model Atmospheres of Irradiated Exoplanets: The Influence of Stellar Parameters, Metallicity, and the C/O Ratio. *ApJ*, 813:47, November 2015.
- 183. P. Mollière, R. van Boekel, J. Bouwman, T. Henning, P.-O. Lagage, and M. Min. Observing transiting planets with JWST. Prime targets and their synthetic spectral observations. A&A, 600:A10, April 2017.
- 184. C. Mordasini, R. van Boekel, P. Mollière, T. Henning, and B. Benneke. The Imprint of Exoplanet Formation History on Observable Present-day Spectra of Hot Jupiters. ApJ, 832:41, November 2016.
- 185. C. V. Morley, L. Kreidberg, Z. Rustamkulov, T. Robinson, and J. J. Fortney. Observing the Atmospheres of Known Temperate Earth-sized Planets with JWST. ApJ, 850:121, December 2017.
- J. I. Moses. Chemical kinetics on extrasolar planets. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London Series A, 372:20130073–20130073, March 2014.
- 187. J. I. Moses, M. R. Line, C. Visscher, M. R. Richardson, N. Nettelmann, J. J. Fortney, T. S. Barman, K. B. Stevenson, and N. Madhusudhan. Compositional Diversity in the Atmospheres of Hot Neptunes, with Application to GJ 436b. *ApJ*, 777:34, November 2013.
- 188. J. I. Moses, N. Madhusudhan, C. Visscher, and R. S. Freedman. Chemical Consequences of the C/O Ratio on Hot Jupiters: Examples from WASP-12b, CoRoT-2b, XO-1b, and HD 189733b. *ApJ*, 763:25, January 2013.
- 189. J. I. Moses, C. Visscher, J. J. Fortney, A. P. Showman, N. K. Lewis, C. A. Griffith, S. J. Klippenstein, M. Shabram, A. J. Friedson, M. S. Marley, and R. S. Freedman. Disequilibrium Carbon, Oxygen, and Nitrogen Chemistry in the Atmospheres of HD 189733b and HD 209458b. *ApJ*, 737:15, August 2011.
- 190. O. Mousis, J. I. Lunine, J.-M. Petit, K. Zahnle, L. Biennier, S. Picaud, T. V. Johnson, J. B. A.

Mitchell, V. Boudon, D. Cordier, M. Devel, R. Georges, C. Griffith, N. Iro, M. S. Marley, and U. Marboeuf. On the Volatile Enrichments and Heavy Element Content in HD189733b. *ApJ*, 727:77, February 2011.

- 191. O. Mousis, U. Marboeuf, J. I. Lunine, Y. Alibert, L. N. Fletcher, G. S. Orton, F. Pauzat, and Y. Ellinger. Determination of the Minimum Masses of Heavy Elements in the Envelopes of Jupiter and Saturn. ApJ, 696:1348–1354, May 2009.
- 192. N. Nikolov, D. K. Sing, A. S. Burrows, J. J. Fortney, G. W. Henry, F. Pont, G. E. Ballester, S. Aigrain, P. A. Wilson, C. M. Huitson, N. P. Gibson, J.-M. Désert, A. L. d. Etangs, A. P. Showman, A. Vidal-Madjar, H. R. Wakeford, and K. Zahnle. HST hot-Jupiter transmission spectral survey: haze in the atmosphere of WASP-6b. *MNRAS*, 447:463–478, February 2015.
- 193. N. Nikolov, D. K. Sing, J. J. Fortney, J. M. Goyal, B. Drummond, T. M. Evans, N. P. Gibson, E. J. W. De Mooij, Z. Rustamkulov, H. R. Wakeford, B. Smalley, A. J. Burgasser, C. Hellier, C. Helling, N. J. Mayne, N. Madhusudhan, T. Kataria, J. Baines, A. L. Carter, G. E. Ballester, J. K. Barstow, J. McCleery, and J. J. Spake. An absolute sodium abundance for a cloud-free 'hot Saturn' exoplanet. *Nature*, 557:526–529, May 2018.
- 194. N. Nikolov, D. K. Sing, N. P. Gibson, J. J. Fortney, T. M. Evans, J. K. Barstow, T. Kataria, and P. A. Wilson. VLT FORS2 Comparative Transmission Spectroscopy: Detection of Na in the Atmosphere of WASP-39b from the Ground. *ApJ*, 832:191, December 2016.
- 195. N. Nikolov, D. K. Sing, F. Pont, A. S. Burrows, J. J. Fortney, G. E. Ballester, T. M. Evans, C. M. Huitson, H. R. Wakeford, P. A. Wilson, S. Aigrain, D. Deming, N. P. Gibson, G. W. Henry, H. Knutson, A. Lecavelier des Etangs, A. P. Showman, A. Vidal-Madjar, and K. Zahnle. Hubble Space Telescope hot Jupiter transmission spectral survey: a detection of Na and strong optical absorption in HAT-P-1b. MNRAS, 437:46–66, January 2014.
- 196. S. K. Nugroho, H. Kawahara, K. Masuda, T. Hirano, T. Kotani, and A. Tajitsu. Highresolution Spectroscopic Detection of TiO and a Stratosphere in the Day-side of WASP-33b. AJ, 154:221, December 2017.
- 197. K. I. Öberg, R. Murray-Clay, and E. A. Bergin. The Effects of Snowlines on C/O in Planetary Atmospheres. ApJ, 743:L16, December 2011.
- 198. M. Oshagh, N. C. Santos, D. Ehrenreich, N. Haghighipour, P. Figueira, A. Santerne, and M. Montalto. Impact of occultations of stellar active regions on transmission spectra. Can occultation of a plage mimic the signature of a blue sky? A&A, 568:A99, August 2014.
- 199. J. E. Owen. Atmospheric Escape and the Evolution of Close-in Exoplanets. *arXiv e-prints*, July 2018.
- 200. V. Parmentier, J. J. Fortney, A. P. Showman, C. Morley, and M. S. Marley. Transitions in the Cloud Composition of Hot Jupiters. ApJ, 828:22, September 2016.
- 201. V. Parmentier, M. R. Line, J. L. Bean, M. Mansfield, L. Kreidberg, R. Lupu, C. Visscher, J.-M. Desert, J. J. Fortney, M. Deleuil, J. Arcangeli, A. P. Showman, and M. S. Marley. From thermal dissociation to condensation in the atmospheres of ultra hot Jupiters: WASP-121b in context. ArXiv e-prints, April 2018.
- 202. V. Parmentier, A. P. Showman, and Y. Lian. 3D mixing in hot Jupiters atmospheres. I. Application to the day/night cold trap in HD 209458b. A&A, 558:A91, October 2013.
- Andrei T. Patrascu, Sergei N. Yurchenko, and Jonathan Tennyson. ExoMol molecular line lists - IX. The spectrum of AlO. MNRAS, 449:3613–3619, Jun 2015.
- 204. D. J. M. Petit dit de la Roche, H. J. Hoeijmakers, and I. A. G. Snellen. Molecule mapping of HR8799b using OSIRIS on Keck. Strong detection of water and carbon monoxide, but no methane. A&A, 616:A146, August 2018.
- 205. A. Pinhas and N. Madhusudhan. On signatures of clouds in exoplanetary transit spectra. MNRAS, 471:4355–4373, November 2017.
- 206. A. Pinhas, N. Madhusudhan, S. Gandhi, and R. MacDonald. H<sub>2</sub>O abundances and cloud properties in ten hot giant exoplanets. MNRAS, 482:1485–1498, January 2019.
- 207. Ana-Maria A. Piso, Karin I. Öberg, Tilman Birnstiel, and Ruth A. Murray-Clay. C/O and
- 54 N. Madhusudhan

Snowline Locations in Protoplanetary Disks: The Effect of Radial Drift and Viscous Gas Accretion. ApJ, 815:109, December 2015.

- 208. Ana-Maria A. Piso, Jamila Pegues, and Karin I. Öberg. The Role of Ice Compositions for Snowlines and the C/N/O Ratios in Active Disks. ApJ, 833:203, December 2016.
- 209. F. Pont, D. K. Sing, N. P. Gibson, S. Aigrain, G. Henry, and N. Husnoo. The prevalence of dust on the exoplanet HD 189733b from Hubble and Spitzer observations. *MNRAS*, 432:2917–2944, July 2013.
- R. E. Pudritz, A. J. Cridland, and M. Alessi. Connecting Planetary Composition with Formation. ArXiv e-prints, April 2018.
- 211. B. V. Rackham, D. Apai, and M. S. Giampapa. The Transit Light Source Effect: False Spectral Features and Incorrect Densities for M-dwarf Transiting Planets. ApJ, 853:122, February 2018.
- E. Rauscher. Models of Warm Jupiter Atmospheres: Observable Signatures of Obliquity. ApJ, 846:69, September 2017.
- E. Rauscher and K. Menou. Three-dimensional Modeling of Hot Jupiter Atmospheric Flows. ApJ, 714:1334–1342, May 2010.
- 214. S. Redfield, M. Endl, W. D. Cochran, and L. Koesterke. Sodium Absorption from the Exoplanetary Atmosphere of HD 189733b Detected in the Optical Transmission Spectrum. ApJ, 673:L87–L90, January 2008.
- 215. C. Richard, I.E. Gordon, L.S. Rothman, M. Abel, L. Frommhold, M. Gustafsson, J.-M. Hartmann, C. Hermans, W.J. Lafferty, G.S. Orton, K.M. Smith, and H. Tran. New section of the hitran database: Collision-induced absorption (cia). *Journal of Quantitative Spectroscopy and Radiative Transfer*, 113(11):1276 – 1285, 2012. Three Leaders in Spectroscopy.
- 216. P. B. Rimmer, J. Xu, S. J. Thompson, E. Gillen, J. D. Sutherland, and D. Queloz. Prebiotic Chemistry on Exoplanets Within the Liquid Water Habitable Zone. In *Habitable Worlds 2017:* A System Science Workshop, volume 2042 of LPI Contributions, page 4094, November 2017.
- 217. P. B. Rimmer, J. Xu, S. J. Thompson, E. Gillen, J. D. Sutherland, and D. Queloz. The origin of RNA precursors on exoplanets. *Science Advances*, 4:eaar3302, August 2018.
- M. Rocchetto, I. P. Waldmann, O. Venot, P.-O. Lagage, and G. Tinetti. Exploring Biases of Atmospheric Retrievals in Simulated JWST Transmission Spectra of Hot Jupiters. *ApJ*, 833:120, December 2016.
- F. Rodler, M. Kürster, and J. R. Barnes. Detection of CO absorption in the atmosphere of the hot Jupiter HD 189733b. MNRAS, 432:1980–1988, July 2013.
- 220. F. Rodler and M. López-Morales. Feasibility Studies for the Detection of O<sub>2</sub> in an Earth-like Exoplanet. ApJ, 781:54, January 2014.
- 221. L. S. Rothman, I. E. Gordon, R. J. Barber, H. Dothe, R. R. Gamache, A. Goldman, V. I. Perevalov, S. A. Tashkun, and J. Tennyson. HITEMP, the high-temperature molecular spectroscopic database. J. Quant. Spec. Radiat. Transf., 111:2139–2150, October 2010.
- 222. M. Samland, P. Mollière, M. Bonnefoy, A.-L. Maire, F. Cantalloube, A. C. Cheetham, D. Mesa, R. Gratton, B. A. Biller, Z. Wahhaj, J. Bouwman, W. Brandner, D. Melnick, J. Carson, M. Janson, T. Henning, D. Homeier, C. Mordasini, M. Langlois, S. P. Quanz, R. van Boekel, A. Zurlo, J. E. Schlieder, H. Avenhaus, J.-L. Beuzit, A. Boccaletti, M. Bonavita, G. Chauvin, R. Claudi, M. Cudel, S. Desidera, M. Feldt, T. Fusco, R. Galicher, T. G. Kopytova, A.-M. Lagrange, H. Le Coroller, P. Martinez, O. Moeller-Nilsson, D. Mouillet, L. M. Mugnier, C. Perrot, A. Sevin, E. Sissa, A. Vigan, and L. Weber. Spectral and atmospheric characterization of 51 Eridani b using VLT/SPHERE. A&A, 603:A57, July 2017.
- 223. E. Schlawin, E. Agol, L. M. Walkowicz, K. Covey, and J. P. Lloyd. Exoplanetary Transits of Limb-brightened Lines: Tentative Si IV Absorption by HD 209458b. *ApJ*, 722:L75–L79, October 2010.
- 224. J. C. Schwartz, Z. Kashner, D. Jovmir, and N. B. Cowan. Phase Offsets and the Energy Budgets of Hot Jupiters. ApJ, 850:154, December 2017.
- 225. David W. Schwenke. Opacity of tio from a coupled electronic state calculation parametrized

by abinitio and experimental data. Faraday Discuss., 109:321–334, 1998.

- 226. E. W. Schwieterman, N. Y. Kiang, M. N. Parenteau, C. E. Harman, S. DasSarma, T. M. Fisher, G. N. Arney, H. E. Hartnett, C. T. Reinhard, S. L. Olson, V. S. Meadows, C. S. Cockell, S. I. Walker, J. L. Grenfell, S. Hegde, S. Rugheimer, R. Hu, and T. W. Lyons. Exoplanet Biosignatures: A Review of Remotely Detectable Signs of Life. *Astrobiology*, 18:663–708, June 2018.
- 227. S. Seager.  ${\it Exoplanets.}$  December 2010.
- 228. S. Seager. The search for habitable planets with biosignature gases framed by a 'Biosignature Drake Equation'. *International Journal of Astrobiology*, 17:294–302, October 2018.
- 229. S. Seager, W. Bains, and R. Hu. Biosignature Gases in H<sub>2</sub>-dominated Atmospheres on Rocky Exoplanets. ApJ, 777:95, November 2013.
- 230. S. Seager, W. Bains, and J. J. Petkowski. Toward a List of Molecules as Potential Biosignature Gases for the Search for Life on Exoplanets and Applications to Terrestrial Biochemistry. *Astrobiology*, 16:465–485, June 2016.
- S. Seager and D. D. Sasselov. Extrasolar Giant Planets under Strong Stellar Irradiation. ApJ, 502:L157–L161, August 1998.
- 232. E. Sedaghati, H. M. J. Boffin, R. J. MacDonald, S. Gandhi, N. Madhusudhan, N. P. Gibson, M. Oshagh, A. Claret, and H. Rauer. Detection of titanium oxide in the atmosphere of a hot Jupiter. *Nature*, 549:238–241, September 2017.
- S. Seager and D. D. Sasselov. Theoretical Transmission Spectra during Extrasolar Giant Planet Transits. ApJ, 537:916–921, July 2000.
- 234. A. Segura, L. M. Walkowicz, V. Meadows, J. Kasting, and S. Hawley. The Effect of a Strong Stellar Flare on the Atmospheric Chemistry of an Earth-like Planet Orbiting an M Dwarf. *Astrobiology*, 10:751–771, September 2010.
- 235. F. Selsis, L. Kaltenegger, and J. Paillet. Terrestrial exoplanets: diversity, habitability and characterization. *Physica Scripta Volume T*, 130(1):014032, August 2008.
- 236. K. B. Sheppard, A. M. Mandell, P. Tamburo, S. Gandhi, A. Pinhas, N. Madhusudhan, and D. Deming. Evidence for a Dayside Thermal Inversion and High Metallicity for the Hot Jupiter WASP-18b. ApJ, 850:L32, December 2017.
- 237. A. P. Showman, C. S. Cooper, J. J. Fortney, and M. S. Marley. Atmospheric Circulation of Hot Jupiters: Three-dimensional Circulation Models of HD 209458b and HD 189733b with Simplified Forcing. ApJ, 682:559–576, July 2008.
- 238. A. P. Showman, J. J. Fortney, N. K. Lewis, and M. Shabram. Doppler Signatures of the Atmospheric Circulation on Hot Jupiters. ApJ, 762:24, January 2013.
- 239. A. P. Showman, J. J. Fortney, Y. Lian, M. S. Marley, R. S. Freedman, H. A. Knutson, and D. Charbonneau. Atmospheric Circulation of Hot Jupiters: Coupled Radiative-Dynamical General Circulation Model Simulations of HD 189733b and HD 209458b. *ApJ*, 699:564–584, July 2009.
- 240. A. P. Showman and T. Guillot. Atmospheric circulation and tides of "51 Pegasus b-like" planets. A&A, 385:166–180, April 2002.
- 241. A. P. Showman and L. M. Polvani. Equatorial Superrotation on Tidally Locked Exoplanets. *ApJ*, 738:71, September 2011.
- 242. A. Shporer and R. Hu. Studying Atmosphere-dominated Hot Jupiter Kepler Phase Curves: Evidence that Inhomogeneous Atmospheric Reflection Is Common. AJ, 150:112, October 2015.
- 243. D. K. Sing, J.-M. Désert, J. J. Fortney, A. Lecavelier Des Etangs, G. E. Ballester, J. Cepa, D. Ehrenreich, M. López-Morales, F. Pont, M. Shabram, and A. Vidal-Madjar. Gran Telescopio Canarias OSIRIS transiting exoplanet atmospheric survey: detection of potassium in XO-2b from narrowband spectrophotometry. A&A, 527:A73, March 2011.
- 244. D. K. Sing, J. J. Fortney, N. Nikolov, H. R. Wakeford, T. Kataria, T. M. Evans, S. Aigrain, G. E. Ballester, A. S. Burrows, D. Deming, J.-M. Désert, N. P. Gibson, G. W. Henry, C. M. Huitson, H. A. Knutson, A. Lecavelier Des Etangs, F. Pont, A. P. Showman, A. Vidal-Madjar,
- 56 N. Madhusudhan

M. H. Williamson, and P. A. Wilson. A continuum from clear to cloudy hot-Jupiter exoplanets without primordial water depletion. *Nature*, 529:59–62, January 2016.

- 245. D. K. Sing, C. M. Huitson, M. Lopez-Morales, F. Pont, J.-M. Désert, D. Ehrenreich, P. A. Wilson, G. E. Ballester, J. J. Fortney, A. Lecavelier des Etangs, and A. Vidal-Madjar. GTC OSIRIS transiting exoplanet atmospheric survey: detection of sodium in XO-2b from differential long-slit spectroscopy. *MNRAS*, 426:1663–1670, October 2012.
- D. K. Sing and M. López-Morales. Ground-based secondary eclipse detection of the very-hot Jupiter OGLE-TR-56b. A&A, 493:L31–L34, January 2009.
- 247. D. K. Sing, H. R. Wakeford, A. P. Showman, N. Nikolov, J. J. Fortney, A. S. Burrows, G. E. Ballester, D. Deming, S. Aigrain, J.-M. Désert, N. P. Gibson, G. W. Henry, H. Knutson, A. Lecavelier des Etangs, F. Pont, A. Vidal-Madjar, M. W. Williamson, and P. A. Wilson. HST hot-Jupiter transmission spectral survey: detection of potassium in WASP-31b along with a cloud deck and Rayleigh scattering. MNRAS, 446:2428–2443, January 2015.
- 248. I. Snellen, R. de Kok, J. L. Birkby, B. Brandl, M. Brogi, C. Keller, M. Kenworthy, H. Schwarz, and R. Stuik. Combining high-dispersion spectroscopy with high contrast imaging: Probing rocky planets around our nearest neighbors. A&A, 576:A59, April 2015.
- 249. I. A. G. Snellen, S. Albrecht, E. J. W. de Mooij, and R. S. Le Poole. Ground-based detection of sodium in the transmission spectrum of exoplanet HD 209458b. A&A, 487:357–362, August 2008.
- 250. I. A. G. Snellen, B. R. Brandl, R. J. de Kok, M. Brogi, J. Birkby, and H. Schwarz. Fast spin of the young extrasolar planet β Pictoris b. *Nature*, 509:63–65, May 2014.
- 251. I. A. G. Snellen, R. J. de Kok, E. J. W. de Mooij, and S. Albrecht. The orbital motion, absolute mass and high-altitude winds of exoplanet HD209458b. *Nature*, 465:1049–1051, June 2010.
- 252. I. A. G. Snellen, J.-M. Désert, L. B. F. M. Waters, T. Robinson, V. Meadows, E. F. van Dishoeck, B. R. Brandl, T. Henning, J. Bouwman, F. Lahuis, M. Min, C. Lovis, C. Dominik, V. Van Eylen, D. Sing, G. Anglada-Escudé, J. L. Birkby, and M. Brogi. Detecting Proxima b's Atmosphere with JWST Targeting CO<sub>2</sub> at 15 μm Using a High-pass Spectral Filtering Technique. AJ, 154:77, August 2017.
- 253. J. J. Spake, D. K. Sing, T. M. Evans, A. Oklopčić, V. Bourrier, L. Kreidberg, B. V. Rackham, J. Irwin, D. Ehrenreich, A. Wyttenbach, H. R. Wakeford, Y. Zhou, K. L. Chubb, N. Nikolov, J. M. Goyal, G. W. Henry, M. H. Williamson, S. Blumenthal, D. R. Anderson, C. Hellier, D. Charbonneau, S. Udry, and N. Madhusudhan. Helium in the eroding atmosphere of an exoplanet. *Nature*, 557:68–70, May 2018.
- 254. L. A. Sromovsky, P. M. Fry, and J. H. Kim. Methane on Uranus: The case for a compact CH <sub>4</sub> cloud layer at low latitudes and a severe CH <sub>4</sub> depletion at high-latitudes based on re-analysis of Voyager occultation measurements and STIS spectroscopy. *Icarus*, 215:292–312, September 2011.
- 255. K. B. Stevenson. Quantifying and Predicting the Presence of Clouds in Exoplanet Atmospheres. ApJ, 817:L16, February 2016.
- 256. K. B. Stevenson, J.-M. Désert, M. R. Line, J. L. Bean, J. J. Fortney, A. P. Showman, T. Kataria, L. Kreidberg, P. R. McCullough, G. W. Henry, D. Charbonneau, A. Burrows, S. Seager, N. Madhusudhan, M. H. Williamson, and D. Homeier. Thermal structure of an exoplanet atmosphere from phase-resolved emission spectroscopy. *Science*, 346:838–841, November 2014.
- 257. D. Sudarsky, A. Burrows, and I. Hubeny. Theoretical Spectra and Atmospheres of Extrasolar Giant Planets. ApJ, 588:1121–1148, May 2003.
- 258. M. R. Swain, G. Vasisht, and G. Tinetti. The presence of methane in the atmosphere of an extrasolar planet. *Nature*, 452:329–331, March 2008.
- 259. X. Tan and A. P. Showman. Effects of Latent Heating on Atmospheres of Brown Dwarfs and Directly Imaged Planets. ApJ, 835:186, February 2017.

- J. Tennyson and S. Yurchenko. The ExoMol Atlas of Molecular Opacities. Atoms, 6:26, May 2018.
- 261. G. Tinetti, A. Vidal-Madjar, M.-C. Liang, J.-P. Beaulieu, Y. Yung, S. Carey, R. J. Barber, J. Tennyson, I. Ribas, N. Allard, G. E. Ballester, D. K. Sing, and F. Selsis. Water vapour in the atmosphere of a transiting extrasolar planet. *Nature*, 448:169–171, July 2007.
- 262. K. O. Todorov, M. R. Line, J. E. Pineda, M. R. Meyer, S. P. Quanz, S. Hinkley, and J. J. Fortney. The Water Abundance of the Directly Imaged Substellar Companion κ And b Retrieved from a Near Infrared Spectrum. ApJ, 823:14, May 2016.
- 263. S.-M. Tsai, J. R. Lyons, L. Grosheintz, P. B. Rimmer, D. Kitzmann, and K. Heng. VULCAN: An Open-source, Validated Chemical Kinetics Python Code for Exoplanetary Atmospheres. *ApJS*, 228:20, February 2017.
- 264. A. Tsiaras, I. P. Waldmann, M. Rocchetto, R. Varley, G. Morello, M. Damiano, and G. Tinetti. A New Approach to Analyzing HST Spatial Scans: The Transmission Spectrum of HD 209458 b. ApJ, 832:202, December 2016.
- 265. A. Tsiaras, M. Rocchetto, I. P. Waldmann, O. Venot, R. Varley, G. Morello, M. Damiano, G. Tinetti, E. J. Barton, S. N. Yurchenko, and J. Tennyson. Detection of an atmosphere around the super-Earth 55 Cancri e. *ApJ*, 820(2):99, mar 2016.
- 266. A. Tsiaras, I. P. Waldmann, T. Zingales, M. Rocchetto, G. Morello, M. Damiano, K. Karpouzas, G. Tinetti, L. K. McKemmish, J. Tennyson, and S. N. Yurchenko. A Population Study of Gaseous Exoplanets. AJ, 155:156, April 2018.
- 267. O. Venot, E. Hébrard, R. Bounaceur, and L. Decin. A new chemical scheme to study exoplanets atmospheres. *European Planetary Science Congress*, 9:EPSC2014–341, April 2014.
- 268. O. Venot, E. Hébrard, M. Agúndez, L. Decin, and R. Bounaceur. New chemical scheme for studying carbon-rich exoplanet atmospheres. A&A, 577:A33, May 2015.
- J. Venturini, Y. Alibert, and W. Benz. Planet formation with envelope enrichment: new insights on planetary diversity. A&A, 596:A90, December 2016.
- 270. A. Vidal-Madjar, J.-M. Désert, A. Lecavelier des Etangs, G. Hébrard, G. E. Ballester, D. Ehrenreich, R. Ferlet, J. C. McConnell, M. Mayor, and C. D. Parkinson. Detection of Oxygen and Carbon in the Hydrodynamically Escaping Atmosphere of the Extrasolar Planet HD 209458b. *ApJ*, 604:L69–L72, March 2004.
- 271. A. Vidal-Madjar, C. M. Huitson, V. Bourrier, J.-M. Désert, G. Ballester, A. Lecavelier des Etangs, D. K. Sing, D. Ehrenreich, R. Ferlet, G. Hébrard, and J. C. McConnell. Magnesium in the atmosphere of the planet HD 209458 b: observations of the thermosphere-exosphere transition region. A&A, 560:A54, December 2013.
- 272. A. Vidal-Madjar, A. Lecavelier des Etangs, J.-M. Désert, G. E. Ballester, R. Ferlet, G. Hébrard, and M. Mayor. An extended upper atmosphere around the extrasolar planet HD209458b. *Nature*, 422:143–146, March 2003.
- 273. C. von Essen, M. Mallonn, L. Welbanks, N. Madhusudhan, A. Pinhas, H. Bouy, and P. Weis Hansen. An optical transmission spectrum of the ultra-hot Jupiter WASP-33 b. First indication of aluminum oxide in an exoplanet. A&A, 622:A71, February 2019.
- 274. H. R. Wakeford and D. K. Sing. Transmission spectral properties of clouds for hot Jupiter exoplanets. A&A, 573:A122, January 2015.
- 275. H. R. Wakeford, D. K. Sing, D. Deming, N. P. Gibson, J. J. Fortney, A. S. Burrows, G. Ballester, N. Nikolov, S. Aigrain, G. Henry, H. Knutson, A. Lecavelier des Etangs, F. Pont, A. P. Showman, A. Vidal-Madjar, and K. Zahnle. HST hot Jupiter transmission spectral survey: detection of water in HAT-P-1b from WFC3 near-IR spatial scan observations. *MNRAS*, 435:3481–3493, November 2013.
- 276. H. R. Wakeford, D. K. Sing, D. Deming, N. K. Lewis, J. Goyal, T. J. Wilson, J. Barstow, T. Kataria, B. Drummond, T. M. Evans, A. L. Carter, N. Nikolov, H. A. Knutson, G. E. Ballester, and A. M. Mandell. The Complete Transmission Spectrum of WASP-39b with a Precise Water Constraint. AJ, 155:29, January 2018.

- 277. H. R. Wakeford, D. K. Sing, T. Kataria, D. Deming, N. Nikolov, E. D. Lopez, P. Tremblin, D. S. Amundsen, N. K. Lewis, A. M. Mandell, J. J. Fortney, H. Knutson, B. Benneke, and T. M. Evans. HAT-P-26b: A Neptune-mass exoplanet with a well-constrained heavy element abundance. *Science*, 356:628–631, May 2017.
- 278. I. P. Waldmann, M. Rocchetto, G. Tinetti, E. J. Barton, S. N. Yurchenko, and J. Tennyson. Tau-REX II: Retrieval of Emission Spectra. ApJ, 813:13, November 2015.
- 279. I. P. Waldmann. Dreaming of Atmospheres. ApJ, 820:107, April 2016.
- 280. J. Wang, D. Mawet, R. Hu, G. Ruane, J.-R. Delorme, and N. Klimovic. Baseline Requirements For Detecting Biosignatures with the HabEx and LUVOIR Mission Concepts. ArXiv e-prints, June 2018.
- 281. M. H. Wong, P. R. Mahaffy, S. K. Atreya, H. B. Niemann, and T. C. Owen. Updated Galileo probe mass spectrometer measurements of carbon, oxygen, nitrogen, and sulfur on Jupiter. *Icarus*, 171:153–170, September 2004.
- 282. A. Wyttenbach, D. Ehrenreich, C. Lovis, S. Udry, and F. Pepe. Spectrally resolved detection of sodium in the atmosphere of HD 189733b with the HARPS spectrograph. A&A, 577:A62, May 2015.
- 283. S. N. Yurchenko, R. J. Barber, and J. Tennyson. A variationally computed line list for hot NH<sub>3</sub>. MNRAS, 413:1828–1834, May 2011.
- 284. S. N. Yurchenko, J. Tennyson, R. J. Barber, and W. Thiel. Vibrational transition moments of CH<sub>4</sub> from first principles. *Journal of Molecular Spectroscopy*, 291:69–76, September 2013.
- 285. S. N. Yurchenko and J. Tennyson. ExoMol line lists IV. The rotation-vibration spectrum of methane up to 1500 K. MNRAS, 440:1649–1661, May 2014.
- 286. M. Zhang, H. A. Knutson, T. Kataria, J. C. Schwartz, N. B. Cowan, A. P. Showman, A. Burrows, J. J. Fortney, K. Todorov, J.-M. Desert, E. Agol, and D. Deming. Phase Curves of WASP-33b and HD 149026b and a New Correlation between Phase Curve Offset and Irradiation Temperature. AJ, 155:83, February 2018.
- 287. X. Zhang and A. P. Showman. Effects of Bulk Composition on the Atmospheric Dynamics on Close-in Exoplanets. ApJ, 836:73, February 2017.